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OUR COMPANY

CYDSA’S TWO BUSINESS SEGMENTS INCLUDE: CHEMICAL PRODUCTS 

& SPECIALTIES, AND YARNS FOR TEXTILES. HEADQUARTERED IN 

MONTERREY, MEXICO, THE COMPANY INCORPORATES MORE THAN 20 

SUBSIDIARIES LOCATED IN 8 CITIES AND SERVES CUSTOMERS IN MORE 

THAN 20 COUNTRIES.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS1

2013 2012
RESULTS
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Consolidated Sales 5,183 5,498
Consolidated Sales (millions of dollars) 407 418
Export Sales (millions of dollars) 29 46
Export Sales / Consolidated Sales 7% 11%
Operating Income 862 998 
Net Income  507  617 
Net Income of Controlling Interest  502  569 

FINANCIAL POSITION

(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Total Assets 12,458 10,776
Bank Debt2 (millions of  dollars) 178 172
Bank Debt Net of Cash3 (millions of  dollars)  (120)  (163)
Shareholders’ Equity 7,435 5,980
Book Value per Share4 (pesos) 11.96 9.55

CASH FLOW

(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)5 1,027 1,156
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)5 (millions of dollars) 81 88

INDICATORS

Operating Income / Sales 16.6% 18.2%
Net Income / Sales 9.8% 11.2%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)5 / Sales 19.8% 21.0%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)5 /  Financial Expenses (ratio) 9.73 10.63
Total Debt / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.31 0.37
Total Liabilities / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.68 0.80
Net Working Capital6 / Sales 12.9% 11.2%

TOTAL PERSONNEL 1,607 1,568

Exchange Rate (Pesos per US Dollar):

    Annual average 12.77 13.16
    End of year 13.08 12.97



(1)  In accordance with 2012 Mexican Stock Exchange regulations, all investor financial reporting must follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  

(2) CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, in January 2005, of US$76.4 million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies for a 
16.45% interest in the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. The Creditor Banks also received CYDSA’s commitment to purchase these 
shares on or before January 11, 2011. The Balance Sheet shows the reclassification of this item from Bank Debt to Other Long Term Li-
abilities. As a result, Bank and Notes Debt includes the corresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 2005 and US$77.5 million at 
December 2006. Additionally, the restructure included US$159.0 million in Medium Term Notes exchanged for CYDSA shares on January 
19, 2005. In compliance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at December 2004 excluded the exchanged Notes. 
Considering this item, Bank and Notes Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.

(3) Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash and Cash Equivalents.
(4) Based on 589’761,344 shares outstanding in 2013 and 512’283,887 post-split equivalent shares in 2012.
(5)  Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profit plus non-cash items.
(6)  Due to the seasonal characteristic of several of CYDSA’s markets, all measures related to Working Capital performance are computed with a 

methodology based on the last sales required to complete the balance of trade receivables, inventories and trade payables. 

Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude Divestitures and Discontinued Operations .
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CASH FLOW 
(EBITDA)5

CONSOLIDATED 
SALES

(Millions of Dollars at 
December 31st)

(Millions of Dollars)

(Millions of Dollars)

239

29

197

42

174

52

144

60

128

76

115

68

82

47

147

86

172

88

178

81

2004

2004

2004

2005

2005

2005

2006

2006

2006

2007

2007

2007

2008

2008

2008

2009

2009

2009

2010

2010

2010

2011

2011

2011

2012

2012

2012

2013

2013

2013

228
264 287 297

359

291 307

417 418 407

20
13

  A
N

N
U

A
L 

RE
PO

R
T

3
2



CYDSA’s development with growth plan, initiated in 2010, contin-
ued to progress during 2013. Despite these improvements, sev-
eral conditions, primarily outside the Group’s control, decreased 
Sales and Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA1), producing less than 
optimal financial indices. The results should be transitory, how-
ever, as Business Units’ initiatives, currently underway, enhance 
competitiveness. Group’s strategies already in progress focus on 
growing and restructuring the Business Portfolio.

Two significant events, as summarized next, positively impacted 
CYDSA’s medium and long term growth prospects.

TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS

TOMAS GONZALEZ SADA
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer

(1) Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA refers to Profits before Net Financial Income (Expenses), Income Taxes, Discontinued Operations, Deprecia-
tion and Amortization. EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profit plus non-cash items.

CYDSA achieved solid 
progress in the new 
development with 
growth phase, focused 
on improving the 
competitive position, 
exploring new business 
opportunities and 
strengthening the base 
for profitable growth



•	 Shares	Subscription	for	Equity	Increase.
 
 The April 24, 2013 Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting approved an in-

crease in Common Shares, providing both existing and new Stockholders 
the opportunity to more actively participate in CYDSA’s development. 

 This subscription, concluded on May 28, 2013, issued 30 million shares val-
ued at approximately US$108 million. The proceeds partially fund projects 
improving the Group’s Competitiveness and Growth Capability.  

•	 Investments	supporting	the	Competitiveness	and	Growth	Strategy.

 During the last quarter of 2010, CYDSA initiated a new development with 
growth phase focused on improving the Competitiveness and Growth Ca-
pability of the Saline and Chlorine-Caustic Soda Chemical Business Units. 

 The Strategies include production and capacity increases, technological 
updates and manufacturing process improvements. Projected imple-
mentation of the majority of the projects finalizes in 2014. 

 Additionally, as noted in the last Annual Report, in November 2012 
construction started on a plant capable of simultaneously generating 
electricity and steam from natural gas. The cogeneration plant, located 
in Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz, covers all energy requirements for 
CYDSA’s plants operating at this site and in the state of Mexico. 

 Along with other projects, these investments, already approved by the 
Board of Directors, total over US$320 million. The Capital Investment sec-
tion of this report (page 13) describes 2013 advances on these programs.

CYDSA’s management recognizes the solid progress in the new develop-
ment with growth phase, focused on improving the Business Units com-
petitive positions, exploring new business opportunities and strengthen-
ing the base for profitable growth. The Organization, already restructured 
in operating, strategic and financial principles, supports the initiatives. 
The Group now possesses the ability to implement specific Competitive 
and Growth Projects, reinforcing the Business Portfolio and offering im-
proved prospects for Shareholder Value Creation.
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The following chapters describe 2013 achievements and results2:

•	Sales	and	Income.
•	Operating	Cash	Flow	(EBITDA).
•	Financing	Sources.
•	Cash	Flow	and	Investment	Projects.
•	Outlook.

Sales and Income

In accordance with Mexican Stock Exchange regulations, since 2012 all in-
vestor financial reporting must follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Following these principles, 2013 Domestic Sales of 4,808 million pesos de-
creased 1.8% from the 4,894 million reported the previous year. Lower vol-
umes of chlorine, caustic soda and acrylic yarn offset increased sales of salt, 
specialty chemicals and refrigerant gases. In international markets, 2012 
sales of US$46 million, 11.0% of total, primarily covered refrigerant gases 
and carbon Certified Emission Reductions3 (CERs). 2013 Exports totaled 
US$29 million and 7.2% of Consolidated Sales.

In total 2013 Consolidated Sales of 5,183 million pesos declined 5.7% from 
the 5,498 million realized in 2012. As noted in the Economic Environment 
section of this Report (page 20), the 12.77 pesos per dollar average ex-
change rate in 2013 strengthened 3.0% from previous year’s 13.16 pesos. 
As a result, CYDSA’s	2013	Consolidated	Sales	in	dollar	terms	of	US$407	
million	decreased	2.7% from US$418 million in 2012. The following chart 
depicts dollar sales for the past ten years.

(2)  Unless otherwise stated, figures from 2008 to 2013 are expressed in current pesos, while 2007 and preceding year numbers are expressed 
in pesos with purchasing power as of December 31, 2007 (constant pesos). Foreign exchange figures are expressed in US dollars.

(3)  During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for 
capturing and destroying HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules 
established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. 
As a result, in November 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), 
salable in the international carbon market. Starting in May 2013, this specific type of Certificate was banned in the European market.



The 2013 Operating Profit4 of 862 million pesos, 16.6% of Sales, declined 13.6% 
from the previous year total of 998 million or 18.2% of Sales.  Additional vol-
umes of salt and chemical specialty products failed to offset the increased 
cost of natural gas and electricity as well as lower sales of other product lines.

Net Financial Result totaled a positive 10 million pesos, while Income Taxes 
amounted to 349 million. After considering these items and Other Expenses 
of 16 million, 2013	Consolidated	Net	Profit	reached	507	million	pesos	or 
9.8% of Sales versus 2012 Profit of 617 million, 11.2% of Sales.

The Analysis of CYDSA’s Results of Operations and Financial Condition of 
this Report (page 56), provides additional details on these items and other 
relevant financial information.

(4)  Operating Income or EBIT equals Net Sales minus Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses. 

Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude all Divestitures and Discontinued Operations.

TOTAL 
CONSOLIDATED 
SALES

Millions of Pesos

Millions of Dollars

 2,947 3,162 3,317 3,315 3,980 3,918 3,870 5,169 5,498 5,183

228
264 287 297

359

291 307

417 418 407

2.7%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

20
13

  A
N

N
U

A
L 

RE
PO

R
T

7
6



Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)

CYDSA’s	2013	Operating	Cash	Flow	(EBITDA)	of	1,027	million	pesos de-
creased 11.0% from the 1,156 million achieved the previous year. In	dollar	
terms,	the	2013	EBITDA	totaled	US$81	million, 8.2% below 2012’s US$88 
million. The following chart, shows EBITDA as a percent to Sales of 19.8% in 
2013 compared to 21.0% the prior year. 

The	US$7	million	decline	in	CYDSA’s	2013	EBITDA, results from the posi-
tive impact of reducing cash fixed costs offset by increases in energy costs 
and lower sales in some Business Units. A detailed analysis follows.

•	 Initiatives	focused	on	Reducing	Cash	Fixed	Costs:	US$5	million.

 For CYDSA, systematic cost reduction represents a strategic objective 
to assure continuous improvement. In 2013 this goal became especially 
important due to the unfavorable economic conditions both in Mexico 
and abroad. Specific actions designed and implemented to diminish cash 
fixed costs in all Group’s Business Units produced savings, improving the 
Consolidated EBITDA by US$5 million. 

Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude all Divestitures and Discontinued Operations.

OPERATING 
CASH FLOW 
(EBITDA)

Millions of Current Pesos

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) / 
Consolidated Sales

Millions of Dollars

 332 457 561 651 857 902 586 1,054 1,156 1,027

 12.9% 15.9% 18.0% 20.0% 21.5% 23.0% 15.1% 20.4% 21.0% 19.8%

29
42

52
60

76
68

47

86 88
81

8.2%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013



Adverse situations in other areas, however, more than offset the US$5 mil-
lion positive effort in reducing fixed costs.

•	 Increases	in	Energy	Cost:	US$7	million.

 The Economic Environment section of this Report (page 19) detailed an 
average 45% Mexican natural gas price increase from the US$2.78 per mil-
lion BTUs in 2012 to the US$4.05 in 2013. During the same period, rates 
charged by the Electricity Federal Commission grew 6.2% in dollar terms. 
In several CYDSA Business Units these energy outlays represent a signifi-
cant proportion of the total cost structure. Consequently, increases in en-
ergy rates caused a negative US$7 million impact on the Group’s EBITDA.

•	 Lower	Demand	in	some	product	lines	of	Yarn,	Chlorine	and	Caustic	
Soda:	US$5	million.

 For many years the Mexican Textile and Apparel Industry has suffered 
from the aggressive competition of Southern Asian manufactures, se-
verely impacting production and employment levels throughout the 
whole Mexican textile chain. In 2013, CYDSA’s Yarn Business Unit con-
tinued to face this competition, sometimes using unfair and even illegal 
practices, and experienced a significant reduction in several types of 
domestic yarn sales.

 In addition, problems in their production processes caused several high 
volume Chlorine-Caustic Soda customers to suspend orders for extended 
periods of the year. The situation forced a reduction in operating rates 
negatively affecting results.

 The combined problems of these two Business Units adversely impacted 
CYDSA’s EBITDA by US$5 million. 

In summary, the unfavorable conditions caused a US$12 million deterioration 
in the Group’s 2013 EBITDA, partially offset by a US$5 improvement in cash 
fixed costs. As a result, CYDSA’s	2013	EBITDA	of	US$81	million,	decreased	
US$7	million	from	the	US$88	million	generated	the	previous	year.	
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Financing Sources

As noted in the beginning of this Report, the April 24, 2013 Extraordinary 
Shareholders Meeting approved an Equity increase through a subscription 
of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. shares. Several presentations explaining the Group’s 
strategies and projects covered potential investors in North American, 
South American and European financial centers. 

Successfully concluded on May 28, 2013, with the maximum subscription 
and sale of 30 million shares, the offering realized 46 pesos per share. Pro-
ceeds totaled 1,380 million pesos or approximately US$108 million, partially 
financing projects focused on Improving the Group’s Competitiveness and 
Growth Capability. 

The April, 2013 Shareholders Meeting also voted to increase Cydsa, S.A.B. 
de C.V. shares to 600 million. With an effective date of October 30, 2013, the 
split facilitates the trading of CYDSA stock.

As previously noted, on September 20, 2011 CYDSA’s Valores Quimicos sub-
sidiary negotiated a US$150 million syndicated loan, initially 80% dollar de-
nominated with the remaining 20% in pesos. Terms of this loan required 
principal payments starting in September 2012. The balance reached an 
equivalent of US$128 million at December 31st, 2013.

Additionally, on September 18, 2012, CYDSA obtained a US$50 million loan 
for funding most of a new project for Cogenerating Electricity and Steam, 
explained in the next section of this report. The final draw of US$20 million 
in May 2013 followed the partial draw of US$30 million in November 2012.



Shown in the next graph, CYDSA’s Bank Debt increased by US$6 million dur-
ing 2013, bringing the total to an equivalent of US$178 million as of Decem-
ber 31st, 2013. Also depicted, Bank Debt Net of Cash5 amounts to a negative 
US$120 million at December 2013, down from a negative US$163 million at 
the end of the previous year.

Despite the increase in Bank Debt, at December 2013, the Group complied 
with all negotiated covenants of the Valores Quimicos subsidiary 7. The Bank 
Debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.62 times, falls below the 3.25 maximum specified 
in the loan agreements. Similarly, the EBITDA to Interest ratio of 8.45 com-
pares to the specified minimum of 3.0 times.

(5)  Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash and Cash Equivalents.
(6)  CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, on January 19, 2005, of US$76.4 million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies 

for a 16.45% share in the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. The Creditor Banks also received CYDSA’s commitment to purchase these 
shares on or before January 11, 2011. The Balance Sheet shows the reclassification of this item from Bank Debt to Other Long Term Liabili-
ties. As a result, for comparative purposes Bank and Notes Debt should include the corresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 
2005 and US$77.5 million at December 2006. Additionally, the restructure included US$159.0 million in Medium Term Notes exchanged 
for CYDSA shares on January 19, 2005. In compliance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at December 2004 
excluded the exchanged Notes. Considering this item, Bank and Notes Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.

(7)  Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. represents the contractual entity for CYDSA’s September 20, 2011 and September 18, 2012 loans. Conse-
quently, the covenants are calculated based on this subsidiary’s financial results, essentially covering the Salt and Chlorine-Caustic Soda 
Business Units, and eventually the Electricity and Steam Cogeneration Business Unit.

BANK AND 
NOTES DEBT 6

Bank Debt Net of Cash

Millions of Dollars at 
December 31st

 201 175 147 48 74 13 (135) (161) (163) (120)

239
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174

144
128

115

82
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178
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Cash Flow and Investment Projects

The following table details the composition of 2013	Net	Cash	Flow8. 

The US$81 million of Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) represents the initial 
item in the Net Cash Flow from Operations computation. 

The uses of cash cover US$13 million for additional Net Working Capital, 
including unreimbursed Value Added Taxes. Additionally, Capital Expen-
ditures for Maintenance & Replacement of US$29 million provide outlays 
maintaining current production processes and include US$4 million related 
with environmental regulations. After considering these uses, the Net Cash 
Flow from Operations showed a positive balance of US$39 million.

The final items cover US$14 million in Tax payments from the 2010 Fis-
cal Consolidation Reform and two transactions detailed in the previous 
Financing Sources section: the US$108 million proceeds from the new 
subscription of Equity Shares and the US$6 million related to increased 
Net Bank Debt.  

NET CASH FLOW 2013 
Millions of Dollars 

Net	Cash	Flow:
 Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)   81
 Net Working Capital Outflow (13)
 Capital Expenditures for Maintenance & Replacement (29)

Net	Cash	Flow	from	Operations	 	 39
 Tax payments from the 2010 Fiscal Consolidation Reform (14)
 Equity Increase 108
 Increase in Net Bank Debt  6
 Dividend Payments for CYDSA Shareholders  (24) 
 Outlays for Repurchasing Own Shares (9) 

Cash	Flow	before	Investment	Projects	 	 106	
 Capital Expenditures for Competitiveness & Growth                        (143)

Net	Cash	Flow  (37)

Cash Balance as of December 31, 2013  298

(8) Cash Flow figures are expressed in current pesos. Comparisons are expressed in US dollars as most of the Bank Debt is dollar denominated.



Finally, US$24 million in shareholders dividend payments encompassed a 
US$12.4 payment in May and an additional US$11.6 in December. Continu-
ing to provide options for CYDSA’s shareholders, Outlays for Repurchasing 
Own Shares in the Mexican Stock Exchange totaled approximately US$9 
million and resulted in the acquisition of 7,409,105 post-split equivalent 
shares. Following these transactions, Cash Flow before Investment Projects 
totaled US$106 million.

INVESTMENT PROJECTS

In 2013, Competitiveness & Growth projects required US$143 million of 
Capital Expenditure outlays for expanding capabilities and improving the 
Group’s competitive position. This amount represents CYDSA’s largest Asset 
Investment program in many years.

The investments primarily cover the following four projects:

•	 Redesign	and	renovation	of	evaporated	salt	manufacturing	processes,	in-
creasing annual production capacity from 400,000 to 570,000 tons. Upon 
full operation, scheduled for March 2014, the plant located in the city of 
Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz, becomes the largest evaporated salt op-
eration in the Americas.  

•	 During	2013,	major	advances	occurred	in	the	design	and	construction	of	a	
cutting edge chlorine, caustic soda and chemical specialties plant in Gar-
cia, state of Nuevo Leon. A reassessment of the demand for these prod-
ucts adjusted the design of the plant to an annual production capacity 
of 60,000 tons of chlorine and 68,000 tons of caustic soda. The changes 
delayed the planned startup until the third quarter of 2015.

•	 For	 several	of	CYDSA’s	businesses,	electricity	and	natural	gas	 represent	
a basic and high cost element. As a result of recent changes in Mexican 
energy regulations and the long term outlook for the North American 
natural gas market, the Group planned and designed a plant to simulta-
neously generate electricity and steam from natural gas. 

 As mentioned earlier in this Report, plant construction started in No-
vember 2012, with a potential capacity of converting natural gas into 60 
megawatts of electricity and 550,000 annual tons of steam. Located in 
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Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz, with operations scheduled to begin in 
March 2014, the project will cover all energy requirements for CYDSA’s 
plants operating at this site. Through its distribution network, the Federal 
Electricity Commission (CFE) allows for the use of any excess electricity at 
other Group facilities. 

•	 The	development	of	a	new	zone	of	brine	extraction	started	in	the	state	of	
Veracruz during 2012. This project covers the efficient drilling of new brine 
wells, upgraded to provide the required capabilities for underground stor-
age of natural gas and other hydrocarbons. Advances in 2013 include the 
completion of one well meeting these standards and starting of a second. 
This program allows CYDSA to participate in another energy related busi-
ness area, in addition to the electricity-steam cogeneration operation. 

Following the US$143 million allocation for Competitiveness & Growth In-
vestments, 2013	Net	Cash	Flow	showed	a	reduction	of	US$37	million,	
making	the	year-end	Cash	balance	US$298	million.

Plant for Cogeneration of Electricity and Steam - Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz



CONTENTS OF THE 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

The sections	devoted	to	the	Divisions include 2013 accomplishments	for	
each	of	CYDSA’s	Business	Units and information relative to their products 
and markets (page 22). Another chapter covers activities and programs re-
lated with the Group’s Social	&	Environmental	Responsibility (page 40).

The Economic	Environment section details significant events of the year 
and their impact on CYDSA’s markets (page 18). Management’s	Discussion	
and	Analysis	of	CYDSA’s	2013	Results	of	Operations	and	Financial	Con-
dition	(page 56)	precede	the	Audited	Financial	Statements (page 65).

Outlook

CYDSA’s Shareholders: 2013 results should not be considered as repre-
sentative of the Group’s renewed operating and financial prospects de-
rived from the strategies implemented to strengthen the Business Port-
folio. Despite unfavorable markets circumstances faced by some Business 
Units, CYDSA continued with assured steps along the process of devel-
oping and installing projects to improve competitiveness and provide 
growth throughout the Organization. 

Efforts in 2013 focused on launching projects, many first identified in 2011, 
assuring an efficient and effective implementation of operations in a mini-
mal amount of time. It must be noted that most of the projects already ap-
proved by the Board of Directors will be completed and begin to accrue 
benefits during 2014.

Supported by these projects, current Business Units priorities focus on cre-
ating innovative products and services, satisfying customer needs as well 
as initiatives supporting systematic cost improvement efforts. Emphasis 
continues on implementing creative solutions for e-business markets, while 
utilizing logistics as a competitive advantage. A new distribution center in 
the city of Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz provides a significant service 
improvement to the customers of the edible salt product lines as does the 
direct distribution to retailers in the Mexico City Metropolitan Area.
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In CYDSA’s new development with growth phase, meeting or exceeding 
all safety, quality and environmental standards continues as a fundamental 
principle. Outstanding examples include the Chairman’s Safety Excellence 
Award granted for the second consecutive year by the Chlorine Institute to 
four production plants of CYDSA’s Business Unit, producer of chlorine, caustic 
soda and chemical specialties. Another subsidiary, Sales del Istmo, received 
the FSSC-22000-2013 certification, focused on safety standards established 
for food manufacturers utilizing salt in their processes. This Business Unit also 
received recognition for complying with the Achilles and Sedex standards for 
reliable world class suppliers operating under responsible and ethical busi-
ness practices. To better define CYDSA’s social responsibilities, the 2013 Social 
& Environmental Responsibility Report, published on the Group’s web page, 
includes updates and information outlined in the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) rules and standards.    

Progress in 2013 included new areas with important future potential. The proj-
ect for cogenerating electricity and steam presents additional opportunities 
in similar and correlated areas. CYDSA’s application to the Energy Regulatory 

Drilling Tower for Brine Well - Shalapa, Veracruz



Commission in December to utilize salt caverns for hydrocarbons storage rep-
resents the first Mexican project for LP Gas underground storage. For the real 
estate development area, a comprehensive study will also assess the ultimate 
potential for the Group’s main land holdings.
 
Making the most of a modernized Business Portfolio requires the review 
of all operational and administrative functions, fostering change in tradi-
tional practices, while reinforcing current skills and developing new ca-
pabilities. The changing business environment in Mexico and throughout 
the world offer opportunities accessed only by in depth analysis, optimal 
resource allocation and timely decision making. 

During 2013, all of our employees contributed to CYDSA’s operating and stra-
tegic achievements. We are certain that in 2014, the accumulated experience 
and professionalism of the Group’s personnel, with the support of custom-
ers, suppliers and financial institutions, remain the essentials to build this new 
phase for profitable growth. Moreover, the investment projects for Competi-
tiveness & Growth, derived from both current Businesses and new areas, will 
assure CYDSA’s achievement of its objective to attain sustainable Value Cre-
ation for Customers, Employees, Shareholders and the Community.

Sincerely,

Tomas	Gonzalez	Sada
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
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International Economy and Markets

In most regions of the world, stable conditions or moderate growth typify 
the international economic scene during 2013. A similar stability character-
ized the global financial markets, with few disrupting events.  The condi-
tions generally produced a positive trend in production and trade activities 
but less dynamic than 2012.
  
In the US, personal income as well as machinery, equipment and inven-
tory investments decreased during the first quarter of 2013, while Federal 
Budget impasses reduced Public Sector Expenditures during the second 
half. These factors contributed to a US Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 1.9% 
above 2013, compared with a 2.8% gain the previous year. 

Conversely, the moderate improvement in the United Kingdom and other 
Euro Zone economies supported a 0.1% percent growth in the combined 
Western Europe GDP, versus a 0.3% decrease in 2012.  Japan’s economic 
activity grew 1.8% in 2013, up from 1.4% in 2012. In China, weaker for-
eign investment inflows and reduced domestic market growth caused a 
third consecutive single digit GDP gain. The 7.7% gain recorded in 2012 
remained unchanged from the previous year. 

The 2013 oil markets reflected similar conditions, with minor changes, most-
ly related to type of crude product traded. Based on US Energy Department 
statistics, the 2013 average world oil price of US$107.35 per barrel remained 
basically unchanged from 2012’s US$107.55, but still represented the third 
highest annual average on record. 

ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT

Hiromi	Yokoyama
Advisor for Asia - Pacific



In North American natural gas markets, 2013 prices showed an upward trend 
throughout the year. This occurred despite a flat energy demand and the 
growing quantities derived from improved shale rock extraction technology. 
Prices in Mexico, based on south Texas quotations, since April 2013 include an 
extra cost of liquefied natural gas imports, required to satisfy the domestic 
demand. As a result, natural gas prices in Mexico averaged US$4.05 per mil-
lion BTUs in 2013, a 45% increase from the prior year’s US$2.78. 

The rise in 2013 natural gas price increased electricity costs in Mexico. As 
explained in the President’s letter (page 9), the higher energy costs reduced 
profits margins for several CYDSA business units, due to the quantity of en-
ergy required in  many of the production processes.  

Mexican Business Environment

Moderate growth in the world economy in 2013, particularly in the US indus-
trial sector, combined with weak Mexican Government spending, unfavor-
ably impacted production and trade activities in Mexico. Following the in-
ternational pattern, 2013 domestic currency and stock markets showed little 
change from the previous year. 

2013 export sales of Mexican products again set all-time records despite the 
moderate growth of Mexico’s commercial partners. Lower volumes prevent-
ed Mexico from benefiting the high crude prices as oil exports of US$49 bil-
lion declined 7% against the US$53 billion achieved in 2012. Compensating 
for this reduction, non-oil exports, primarily manufactured goods for the US 
market, reached US$331 billion, increasing 4% versus US$318 billion the prior 
year. Overall, merchandise exports increased 3% from US$371 billion in 2012 
to US$380 billion in 2013.

Purchases of foreign products, fueled by domestic demand for consumer 
goods, raw materials and machinery, totaled a record US$381 billion, 3% 
above the previous year’s US$371 billion. Despite trade surpluses in six of the 
twelve months, 2013 ended with a US$1 billion deficit, compared to a nearly 
balanced position the previous year.

While stronger export demand positively affected the Mexican economy, 
domestic production and trade showed signs of weakness. The Agriculture 
and Livestock sector GDP, enjoying some favorable climatic conditions grew 
0.3%, following a 7.3% gain in 2012. The Industrial Sector, affected by lower 
mining and oil production, as well as a significant reduction in housing and 
infrastructure construction, decreased 0.7%, versus a 2012 increase of 2.6%. 
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The Services sector grew 2.1%, after a 4.5% improvement last year. As noted 
in the following graph, Mexico’s	Gross	Domestic	Product	increased	1.1%	
during	2013, well below the 2012’s 3.9% and represented the second worst 
performance in the past 10 years. Given these results Mexico’s GDP equiva-
lent to US$1,262 billion equaled US$10,650 per capita. 

Higher government services and food prices negatively affected inflation 
performance during the first half of the year. More moderate increases in the 
third quarter preceded a new accelerated trend at year-end. The next chart, 
as	measured	by	 the	Consumer	Price	 Index,	 shows an annual	 inflation	
rate	of	4.0%	in	2013,	exceeding the previous year’s 3.6% and closing in the 
upper limit of the Banco de Mexico’s monetary policy objective. 

During the first half of 2013, the peso exchange rate appreciated against the 
dollar. This trend changed suddenly, with the rate fluctuating around 13 pe-
sos per dollar the remainder of the year. An average 2013 exchange rate of 
12.77 pesos per dollar resulted, appreciating 3.0% from 13.16 pesos the prior 
year. This contrasted with a 2013 year-end per dollar rate of 13.09, depreciat-
ing 0.9% when compared to 12.97 at the end of 2012. 

5.2%

3.3%
4.1% 3.8%

6.5%

3.6%
4.4%

3.8% 3.6% 4.0%

MEXICO
CONSUMER 
PRICE INDEX
Year ending %

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

MEXICO
GROSS 
DOMESTIC 
PRODUCT 
GROWTH
Annual %

4.3%
3.0% 3.1%

1.4%

5.1%
4.0% 3.9%

1.1%

-4.7%

5.0%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Billion Dollars  770 867 966 1,043 1,099 896 1,051 1,168 1,184 1,262



Mexican money market interest rates decreased continuously during 2013, 
reaching unprecedented levels at year-end. The 28-day Treasury Bills (CETES) 
averaged a nominal annual yield of 3.8%, down from 4.2% the previous year.

Finally, oil export income continued to benefit Government finances. Ad-
ditionally, Federal under budget spending in consumption and investment 
items produced a 2013 Public Sector deficit of 2.5% of GDP, similar to the 
previous year’s 2.6%. 

CYDSA’s Markets

CYDSA’s Business Units markets showed modest movement, following both 
domestic and international economic trends. 

In the Chemical Business Group, increased domestic sales of edible salt 
and refrigerant gases compared with slight decreases in chlorine and 
caustic soda shipments. The Mexican Textile Industry continued to suf-
fer the adverse effects of increased imported apparel and textiles, most-
ly of Asian-Pacific origin, frequently using unfair and often illegal trade 
practices. Sales of the Yarn business decreased, despite market strategies 
to offset the negative factors. Overall, CYDSA’s domestic sales showed a 
weighted average unit decline of 2.4% in 2013.

CYDSA’s weighted average unit export sales increased 20.5%, due to high-
er demand for refrigerant gases. These results exclude the carbon Certified 
Emission Reductions1 (CERs), traded in international markets until 2012. 

Overall, CYDSA’s	 total	weighted	average	unit	 sales,	excluding CERs, 
decreased	0.8%	in	2013.

(1) During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for 
capturing and destroying HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules 
established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. 
As a result, in November 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), 
salable in the international carbon market. Starting in May 2013, this specific type of Certificate will be banned in the European market.
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Major efforts in the Salt Business Unit include the expansion of production 
capacity to provide for both medium and long term market needs and the 
development of new brine wells capable of underground hydrocarbon 
storage. The Chlorine-Caustic Soda unit focus includes reduced energy 
costs and establishing a new state of the art plant in Northeast Mexico. The 
Refrigerant Gas Business Unit oriented activities to offsetting the adverse 
effects of lower demand for some of its products.

Additionally, the construction of the Electricity and Steam Cogeneration 
plant significantly progressed. Located in Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz, 
the design incorporates a potential capacity for generating 60 megawatts of 
electrical power and 550,000 annual tons of steam from natural gas. 

Efforts also emphasized safety and environmental improvement programs. 
The Business Units renewed all appropriate domestic and international 
certifications. Specific activities follow. 

REFRIGERANT 
GASES 

SALT CHLORINE-CAUSTIC 
SODA

DURING 2013, CYDSA’S CHEMICAL DIVISION FOCUSED ON EF-

FORTS TO COUNTERACT THE UNFAVORABLE BUSINESS ENVI-

RONMENT. ACTIONS ALSO ASSURED THE EFFECTIVENESS OF 

CAPITAL PROJECT IMPLEMENTATIONS, WHILE STRENGTHEN-

ING COMPETITIVE POSITIONS AND INCREASING THE INSTALLED 

CAPACITY OF SEVERAL PRODUCTION OPERATIONS. 



CHEMICAL 
DIVISION
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SALT
1999 Shingo Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing, ISO-9001-2008,
 ISO-14001-2004 and FSSC-22000-2013 Certified.



PRODUCTS

Edible and Industrial salts; 

Light Salt; Salt Substitute; 

Kocher Grade Salt; Salt with 

chili and lime.

MARKETS

Domestic and exports, 

primarily to USA and Central 

America.

USES

Household salt, food industry 

and industrial processes.

TRADEMARKS

La Fina, Cisne, Klara, Bakará, 

Marfil, Gallo, Palomitos.

MEXICO CITY OFFICE 

Ave. Insurgentes Sur #800, 

Piso 20 Col. Del Valle, 

Delegacion Benito Juarez

Mexico, D. F. 03100

Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1800 

COATZACOALCOS  PLANT

Complejo Industrial Pajaritos

Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz  96400

Tel. +52 (921) 211-3400

www.salesdelistmo.com.mx
e-mail:	sisa@cydsa.com

2013 focuses of the Salt Business included strengthening the brand 
image and market presence, optimizing outbound logistics, ex-
panding product lines and reducing energy costs. Other programs 
stressed the achievement of operational excellence, compliance with 
all environmental regulations and being a responsible neighbor in all 
the communities where the Group operates. The Business Unit also 
progressed in the investment projects for increasing production ca-
pacity, that will reinforce the strategy for growth in Central American, 
Caribbean and US Hispanic markets. 

Major initiatives follow.

CHEMICAL DIVISION

SALES DEL ISTMO, 
S.A. DE C.V. (SISA)
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•	 Benefiting	from	the	success	attained	in	2012,	re-launched	the	“Nation-
al	 Heritage	 of	 Flavor” institutional advertising campaign. The pro-
gram aims at strengthening La Fina’s leadership position in the edible 
salt market. The promotion invites consumers, utilizing social networks, 
to identify the most popular Mexican dishes, providing the basis for TV 
advertising clips.

•	 Promotion	continued	on	the	Cisne,	Klara,	Bakará,	Marfil,	Gallo	and	
Palomitos	regional	brands.	

•	 Implemented	 campaigns	 strengthening	 supermarket	 chain	 presence	
and supporting wholesalers, based on closer	relationships	with	end-
consumer.	Activities included utilizing	in-store	product	demonstra-
tors	to	provide	tasting	opportunities, primarily for the La	Fina,	La	
Fina	chile	y	limon	and	Sal	Light	La	Fina brands. 

•	 Gained	share	 in	 the	Central	American	and	Caribbean	industrial	 food	
market,	and increased La	Fina	salt	presence	in	the	US	Hispanic	market.	

•	 The	La	Fina	chile	y	limon,	Sal	Light	La	Fina	and	Sal	La	Fina	en	Saco	
attained	record	sales	levels.

MARKETS

Significantly advanced 
in increasing  production 
capacity to 570,000 tons 
per year, providing for 
future domestic and export 
market requirements



INNOVATION AND 
CUSTOMER SERVICE

TOTAL QUALITY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

•	 Reduced	logistics	cost	and	improved	customer	service	with	the	second	
phase	of	the	Warehousing	and	Distribution	Center	in	Coatzacoalcos, 
Veracruz, as well as the increase	of	direct	distribution	to	retailers	 in	
the	Mexico	City	Metropolitan	Area.

•	 Completing	one	brine	well	and	initiated	drilling	on	another,	to	assure	
product	quality	and	improved	customer	service.	

•	 Made	 significant	 advances	 in	 increasing	 production	 capacity	 to	
570,000	tons	per	year,	providing for future domestic and export market 
requirements.

•	 Received	Certification	for	the	FSSC-22000-2013	standard, focusing on 
safety requirements for food manufacturers utilizing salt in their products.

•	 Recognized	 for	 complying	 with	 the	 Achilles	 and	 Sedex	 standards, 
certifying world class suppliers utilizing responsible and ethical business 
practices.

•	 Re-certified	ISO-9001-2008,	ISO-14001-2004	and	Kosher	Quality	Food	
standards	as well as renewed the Clean	Industry	Certification granted 
by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources.
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CHLORINE-CAUSTIC SODA
1998 Mexican National Quality Award; 1998 Shingo Prize for Excellence 
in Manufacturing (Coatzacoalcos Plant) and 2002 (Monterrey and 
Tlaxcala Plants); ISO-9001-2008 (Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Santa 
Clara, Tlaxcala and Hermosillo Plants) and ISO-14001-2004 Certified 
(Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Santa Clara, Tlaxcala and Hermosillo Plants).



PRODUCTS

Chlorine, liquid and gas; 

caustic soda, liquid, solid, rayon 

grade and membrane grade; 

chlorine in cylinders; sodium 

hypochlorite; caustic potash; 

synthetic hydrochloric acid; 

muriatic acid; and potassium 

chlorate.

MARKETS

Domestic and export, 

primarily to Central America.

USES

Chemical and petrochemical 

industries, textiles, cellulose, 

paper, pesticides, bleach, 

detergents and soaps, mining 

and extraction of metals, 

plastics, pigments and paints.

MONTERREY OFFICE AND PLANT 

Ave. Ruiz Cortines 2333 Pte.   
Col. Pedro Lozano    
Monterrey, N.L. 64400
Tel. +52 (81) 8158-2700

MEXICO CITY OFFICE

Ave. Insurgentes Sur #800, 
Piso 20 Col. Del Valle, 
Delegacion Benito Juarez
México, D. F. 03100
Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1800

CHEMICAL DIVISION

INDUSTRIA QUIMICA DEL ISTMO, 
S.A. DE C.V. (IQUISA)
IQUISA SANTA CLARA, S.A. DE C.V.

The Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business focused on offsetting the nega-
tive impact of higher electricity costs and reduced demand in the vinyl 
chloride domestic market.

Programs included increasing market presence and service, growing 
share in differentiated product markets, reducing energy consumption 
and lowering fixed costs. Other initiatives involved achieving opera-
tional excellence, environmental compliance and responsible relation-
ships with neighboring communities. 

2013 accomplishments appear next.

COATZACOALCOS PLANT

Complejo Industrial Pajaritos    
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz 96400
Tel. +52 (921) 211-3410 

TLAXCALA PLANT 

Carretera Apizaco Huamantla Km. 128  
San Cosme Xalostoc, Tlaxcala 90460
Tel. +52 (241) 418-4700

HERMOSILLO PLANT 

Calle del Plomo 45, Parque Industrial    
Hermosillo, Sonora 83299
Tel. +52 (662) 251-1024

SANTA CLARA PLANT

Kilometro 16.5, 
Carretera Mexico-Laredo
Col. Santa Clara Coatitla    
Ecatepec, Edo. de Mexico 55540
Tel. +52 (55) 5699-2462

www.iquisa.com.mx
e-mail:	iquisa@cydsa.com
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•	Maintained	 share	 of	 differentiated	 product	 markets by improving 
presence and service in caustic potash, sodium hypochlorite, cylinder-
packed chlorine, synthetic hydrochloric acid, membrane grade caustic 
soda and potassium chlorate markets.

•	 Initiated	construction	of	a	world	class	production	facility	for	manufac-
turing	chlorine,	caustic	soda	and	chemical	specialties. The annual ca-
pacity of the new plant, located	 in	Garcia,	Nuevo	Leon, totals 60,000 
tons of chlorine and 68,000 tons of caustic soda, satisfying the region’s 
current and medium term demand.

MARKETS



OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE, 
TOTAL QUALITY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

•	 Implemented	several	initiatives	to	reduce	electricity	consumption	and	
cost in production processes. 

•	 The	Santa	Clara,	Monterrey,	Hermosillo	and	Tlaxcala	plants	received	the	
Chairman’s	Process	and	Personnel	Safety	Excellence	Awards	grant-
ed	by	the	US	Chlorine	Institute.

•	 The	Coatzacoalcos,	Monterrey,	Santa	Clara,	Tlaxcala	and	Hermosillo	plants	
received re-certifications	for	ISO-9001-2008,	ISO-14001-2004,	US	Na-
tional	Sanitary	Foundation	and	ANIQ’s	Integral	Responsibility grant-
ed by the National Chemical Industry Association. 

•	 The	Coatzacoalcos,	Monterrey,	Santa	Clara,	Tlaxcala	and	Hermosillo	plants	
renewed the Clean	Industry	Certification awarded by the Mexican Min-
istry for Environment and Natural Resources.

Initiated construction of a world 
class production facility for 
manufacturing chlorine, caustic 
soda and chemical specialties, 
located in Garcia, Nuevo Leon
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REFRIGERANT GASES 
Environmental Excellence Award 2004, ISO-9001-2008 
and ISO-14001-2004 Certified.



PRODUCTS

Refrigerant, propellant and 

blowing gases. 

MARKETS

Domestic and export, 

primarily Latin America.

USES

Industrial, commercial and 

domestic refrigeration, home 

appliances, automotive and 

pharmaceutical industry.

TRADEMARKS

Genetron

CHEMICAL DIVISION

QUIMOBASICOS, S.A. DE C.V.
JOINT-VENTURE 51%/49% WITH 
HONEYWELL (USA)

During 2013, the Refrigerant Gas Business Unit faced several adverse 
market conditions:  Reduced demand in some markets, as well as pro-
duction and consumption limits for the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas estab-
lished by the Montreal Protocol. 

Actions aimed at reversing these trends included improving custom-
er service, increasing export market presence, optimizing costs and 
pricing, and achieving operational excellence. The Business Unit also 
maintained strengthening safety and environmental standards as well 
as responsible relationships with neighboring communities. 

Highlights appear next.

MEXICO CITY OFFICE

Ave. Insurgentes Sur #800, 

Piso 20 Col. del Valle

Delegacion Benito Juarez

Mexico, D.F. 03100

Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1800

MONTERREY PLANT

Ave. Ruiz Cortines 2333 Pte.  

Col. Pedro Lozano    

Monterrey, Nuevo Leon 64400

Tel. +52 (81) 8305-4600

www.quimobasicos.com.mx
e-mail:	quimobasicos@cydsa.com	
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•	 Increased	 Mexican	 market	 share	 by	 providing	 the	 automotive	 market	
with the new	HFO1234yf	 refrigerant	gas, as well as, complementing 
the traditional HCFC-22 refrigerant product, with the	full	line	of	the	new	
generation	refrigerant,	blowing	and	propellant	products.

•	 In	addition	to	continued	efforts	 in	Latin	American	export	markets,	Qui-
mobasicos maintained US presence with sales of HCFC-22 used in the 
production of high temperature resistance fluoropolymers utilized in 
household products. 

•	 Expanded	the	use	of	Social	Networks to improve market image and 
maximize domestic market presence. The goal is to reinforce the image of 
a modern and technologically advanced company, ready to serve all cur-
rent and future requirements. 

MARKETS AND 
PRODUCTS



TOTAL QUALITY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

•	 Implemented	a	project	for	utilizing	non	potable	water	in	production	pro-
cesses,	freeing up 56,000 cubic meters annually for the community use.

•	 Re-certified	 the	 ISO-9001-2008	 and	 ISO-14001-2004	 protocols. Re-
newed the Clean	 Industry	 Certification	 and maintained the Environ-
mental	Excellence	Award granted by the Mexican Ministry for Environ-
ment and Natural Resources.

•	 Received	the	Safe	Company	State	Award granted by the Nuevo Leon Gov-
ernment.

Initiated providing the automotive 
market with the new HFO1234yf 
refrigerant gas, serving customers 
with the full line of the new generation 
refrigerant, blowing and propellent 
products
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DURING 2013, THE YARN BUSINESS IMPROVED PRODUCTION 

MACHINERY EFFICIENCY WHILE ENHANCING PRODUCT QUAL-

ITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICE, ASSURING COMPLIANCE WITH 

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS AND RESPONSIBLE RELATION-

SHIPS WITH NEIGHBORING COMMUNITIES. 

The actions produced favorable financial re-
sults, despite the reductions in sales result-
ing from increased foreign competition due 
to the elimination of compensatory duties on 
Asian-Pacific apparel imports. 



YARN 
BUSINESS
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ACRYLIC 
YARNS



PRODUCTS

Acrylic yarns, acrylic blends 

with both natural and synthetic 

fibers, yarns for handcrafts, 

knitting specialties. 

MARKETS

Domestic and export, mainly US.

USES

Sweaters, baby clothes, polo-

shirts, sportswear, socks, women’s 

apparel and handcrafts.

TRADEMARKS

Dasa and San Marcos.

AGUASCALIENTES PLANT

Av. Adolfo Lopez Mateos #1502 Pte.

Col. Circunvalacion Pte. 

Aguascalientes, Aguascalientes 20210

Tel. +52 (449) 910-3300

www.dasa.com.mx
e-mail	:	callcenterhilaturas@dasa.com.mx
Call	Center:	(800)	614-5860		

ACRYLIC YARNS

DERIVADOS ACRILICOS, 
S.A. DE C.V. (DASA)

Major achievements of the Acrylic Yarns Business during 2013 include 
the following operational and financial improvements:

OPERATIONAL 
IMPROVEMENTS

•	 Increased	profit	margins	through	client	
and	product	rationalization.

•	 Reduced	fixed	cost	in all areas of the 
organization. 

•	 Procurement	efficiency	and	produc-
tivity	 improvement increased profit-
ability. 

•	 Generated	additional	cash	flow	by	effec-
tive	management	of	Working	Capital.	

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
•	 Renewed	the	Clean	Industry	Certification granted by the Mexican Min-

istry for Environment and Natural Resources.
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SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL
 RESPONSIBILITY



CYDSA maintains a long-term vision and continuous improvement pro-
grams focused on incorporating the economic, social and environmental 
aspects essential for the integral growth of the company and the commu-
nities where the Group operates. Through this approach CYDSA complies 
with its social responsibility and improves its sustainability. 

CYDSA developed a sustainability model to attain this objective, based on a 
strict framework of Ethics	and	Best	Practices	for	Corporate	Governance.	
Three specific action areas involve Personnel	Development,	Community	
Relationships	and	Environmental	Protection. The achievement of sus-
tainability emanates from a continuous process identifying the strategy	
and	producing	awareness, the integration of required practices into op-
erations	and	management; and the assessment through control	and	au-
diting	systems. Constant interaction with the stakeholders and the evalua-
tion of results provided by control systems, drive CYDSA to implement new 
strategies and programs, assuring sustainable development.

CYDSA´S SUSTAINABILITY 
MODEL
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Ethics and Best Practices for Corporate Governance

Ethics represent the foundation of any company aiming to grow and sur-
vive. Since its origin and through its founders, CYDSA became a leader in 
business Ethics. Based on this vision, a set of business values, defined many 
years ago, govern day to day behavior.

Value Creation for Customers, Personnel, Shareholders and the Community 
sustain this business philosophy. The following principles support the be-
havior of all the Group’s employees:

•	 The	Conduct	Code,	reviewed	annually,	includes	norms	from	the	Interna-
tional Labor Organization.  

•	 Anonymous	internal	communication	tools	include	the	Transparency	Mail-
box, as well as a Policy for managing Conflicts of Interest. 

•	 CYDSA	follows	the	Best	Practices	Code	for	Corporate	Governance	estab-
lished by the Mexican Banking and Stock Exchange Commission. 

CYDSA SOCIAL AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
RESPONSIBILITY REPORT 2013



•	 In	addition	to	the	Board	of	Directors,	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	chairs	Di-
visional Operating Boards meeting periodically to review relevant aspects 
including: Personnel relations, human resources indicators, Transparency 
Mailbox results, environmental protection, energy savings, industrial safe-
ty & risk, and relationships with neighboring communities.

•	 CYDSA	designates	senior	executives	as	representatives	to	participate	ac-
tively in organizations and associations to create relations for promoting 
an improved business environment while complying with all applicable 
regulations and norms.  

•	 The	Group’s	social	responsibility	norms	include	required	special	labeling,	
identification of substances potentially impacting the environment; and 
the safe use and disposal of all products. 

Action Area 1: Personnel Development

People represent the essential element for a secure CYDSA future. Programs 
focus on training not only for knowledge or improved job performance but 
also for the development of the complete person.

The continuous development of people emphasizes three aspects: 
Health	&	Safety,	Training	and	Working	Environment. Relevant initia-
tives and results follow.

HEALTH & SAFETY

The Group’s guiding principles include minimizing operational hazards 
potentially affecting employees, neighboring communities and the en-
vironment. Since 1992, CYDSA assesses production process risk and es-
tablishes safety and job related illness compliance standards. CYDSA’s 
Safety and Environment Instruction Manual of the Internal Work Guide-
book details this process.

20
13

  A
N

N
U

A
L 

RE
PO

R
T

43
42



•	 A	Safety	Management	System	established	at	all	company	sites	encompass-
es training, required equipment, supervision and recognition programs, 
supplemented by internal Safety Auditing Systems.

•	 Two	chlorine-caustic	soda	plants	and	one	refrigerant	gas	plant	are	 locat-
ed adjacent to housing communities. During 2013, operating conditions 
based on strict Process Risk studies produced once again zero complaints 
from neighbors.

•	 The	 Santa	 Clara,	 Monterrey,	 Tlaxcala	 and	 Hermosillo	 Plants,	 produce	
and process chlorine, caustic soda and chemical specialties. Due to their 
achievements on managing safety for both personnel and chlorine, they 
received the Chairman’s Safety Excellence Award granted by the US Chlo-
rine Institute.  

•	 CYDSA	established	the	Safety,	Health	and	Environment	System	(SSOMA)	in	
accordance with the corresponding areas’ policies.

•	 In	2013,	medical	reviews,	consultations	and	vaccines	to	the	personnel	to-
taled 1,400 man-hours. Training for paramedical personnel totaled 800 
man-hours. 

•	 In	collaboration	with	the	Nuevo	Leon’s	State	Health	Department,	the	com-
pany supports vaccination programs for CYDSA’s personnel.

TRAINING

In order to insure the best possible employee, the group invests significant 
human and material resources in their training.

•	 During	2013,	1,560	people	(94%	of	total	personnel)	attended	courses	and	
workshops. Training and instruction totaled 109,628 hours distributed as 
follow: Executives 2,880 hours, managers 3,808 hours, clerical & adminis-
trative 64,700 hours and blue collar 38,240 hours.

•	 Bribery	prevention	policy	instruction	covered	100%	of	the	personnel.



WORKING ENVIRONMENT

At all working sites CYDSA programs encourage continuous two-way com-
munication with all employees to better understand their needs and ex-
pectations. The Group also performs labor climate studies and promotes 
company-family interaction, while providing a stable work environment 
that encourages professional growth.

•	 Results	 from	 Annual	 Employee	 Satisfaction	 surveys	 guide	 operational	
practices.

•	 To	maintain	positive	family-company	interactions,	CYDSA	organizes	sev-
eral annual festivities, as well as sports events and gatherings. 

•	 Attendance	 to	 the	 institutional	 events	 for	 Family	 Day	 and	 Christmas	
Festival totaled approximately 1,950 people with an estimated 14,625 
entertainment hours.

•	 The	Physical	Activity	program	promotes	healthy	personnel	leisure	activi-
ties and better relations among employees from different organizational 
departments. Volleyball, soccer and domino tournaments organized in 
2013 delivered 3,300 man-hours of joint entertainment.  

•	 Collective	Bargaining	Agreements	cover	all	workers.

•	 Employees	receive	fringe	benefits	covering	a	Christmas	bonus,	vacation	
pay, Sunday bonus, a limited weekly work schedule, holiday pay, punctu-
ality and attendance awards, protection and retirement plans. 

•	 The	2013	annual	personnel	turnover	rate	registered	4%.	
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Action Area 2: Community Relationships 

For more than 40 years CYDSA’s priorities include an interaction with neigh-
boring communities, working constructively with their residents. A depart-
ment devoted specifically to community initiatives maintains relationships 
with neighborhood groups capitalizing on communication, mutual benefit 
and common responsibility. CYDSA also created a Center for Community 
Support in Monterrey’s Bernardo Reyes neighborhood 25 years ago and 
continues to promote community relationships in plant locations pro-
ducing Chlorine-Caustic Soda and Refrigerant Gases. In 2013 the Santa 
Clara Plant, producer of Chlorine-Caustic Soda, established a System for 
Community Assistance.

Community Relationship priorities encompass Social	 Assistance,	 Health	
and	Education. Highlights of 2013 activities and achievements appear below.

SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

•	 CYDSA’s	Monterrey	Center	for	Community	Support	provides	medical	as-
sistance to the Bernardo Reyes neighborhood and organizes family rec-
reational activities. The Center also makes an annual census, identifying 
handicapped residents as well as those with special needs.

•	 The	Monterrey	Center	also	offered	the	tenth	consecutive	annual	sum-
mer camp for children aged 6 to 12, living in the Bernardo Reyes neigh-
borhood. The Camp’s activities focus on promoting an environmental 
protection culture supported by young volunteers and teachers. The 
2013 Camp welcomed more than 300 participants exceeding previous 
years’ assistance. 

•	 Four	Ecological	Committees	collaborating	with	Monterrey	county	officials	
in the Bernardo Reyes neighborhood, provide supplies and materials to 
community members for maintaining the public and recreational areas 
including parks, passageways and fences.



•	 A	new	Multi-purpose	Hall	adapted	in	the	Bernardo	Reyes	area,	managed	
by a neighborhood committee, provides the community with a recre-
ational activities area.

HEALTH

•	 In	a	joint	effort	with	the	Mexican	Federal	Government	Health	Secretary,	
CYDSA promotes a preventive program for endemic goiter and caries dis-
eases through the addition of fluorine and/or iodine in table salt.

•	 Annual	participation	in	the	Epidemiological	Health	Surveillance	proj-
ect, benefits more than 3,000 children attending schools in areas bor-
dering plant communities. In 2013, the program included applying lice 
prevention gel.

•	 CYDSA’s	medical	department	offered	1,760	free	consultations	and	invest-
ed 1.1 million pesos in medical supplies and lab exams for the Bernardo 
Reyes neighborhood inhabitants. 

•	 Using	 communication	 channels	 as	diverse	 as	 TV	and	 the	 La	 Fina	Salt	
web site, a CYDSA product, the Group informs consumers about ap-
propriate salt for particular geographical areas and the benefits of a 
moderate salt diet.

EDUCATION

•	 The	Group	assisted	in	maintaining	the	Monterrey	Municipal	Library,	serv-
ing an average of 30 adults and 35 children with daily academic activities.

•	 Sponsored	by	Community	Relations	Programs,	more	than	3,400	students	
and teachers from western Monterrey schools, received training in Car-
diopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR), First Aid, evacuation drills and fire ex-
tinguisher use.
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Action Area 3: Environmental Protection 

The environment represents a major focus for CYDSA, with strict policies 
and procedures assuring its protection. The Group constantly invests in 
training and new technologies, with all operating units complying or ex-
ceeding standards established by appropriate authorities.

CYDSA focuses its environmental protection strategy on three priority as-
pects: Certifications	 &	 Investment,	 Innovation	 and	 Environmental	
Management. A summary of 2013 actions follows. 

CERTIFICATIONS & INVESTMENT

•	 All	operating	units	renewed	the	Clean	 Industry	Certification	granted	by	
the Environmental Protection Office of the Mexican Ministry for Environ-
ment and Natural Resources. Additionally, CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasi-
cos, Refrigerant Gases producer, possesses the Environmental Excellence 
Award presented by the President of Mexico. 

•	 All	eligible	plants	fulfill	the	requirements	for	ISO-14001-2004	Certification.	

•	 As	an	evaporated	salt	producer,	CYDSA	received	the	FSSC-22000-2013	cer-
tification, focused on food safety systems complying with requirements 
established for food manufacturers utilizing salt in their products.

•	 The	Salt	Business	Unit	 received	 the	 recognition	 for	 complying	with	 the	
Achilles and Sedex standards, certifying world class suppliers utilizing re-
sponsible and ethical business practices.

•	 The	Santa	Clara	plant,	producer	of	chlorine-caustic	soda	continued	to	re-
vitalize former facility sites.

•	 Made	significant	progress	in	the	construction	of	a	plant	for	cogenerating	
electricity and steam from natural gas, to optimize energy utilization.

•	 The	Refrigerant	Gases	Business	Unit	 implemented	a	project	 for	utilizing	
non potable water in production processes, freeing up 56,000 cubic me-
ters annually for the community use.

INNOVATION

•	 The	 Group	 utilizes	 oxo-biodegradable	 laminated	 polyethylene	 film	 for	
packaging salt. Ultra violet rays deteriorate this type of film faster than the 
traditional polyethylene, substantially reducing the environmental impact.

•	 Since	 2006,	 CYDSA’s	 subsidiary	 Quimobasicos	 captures	 and	 destroys	
greenhouse effect gases.



ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

•	 CYDSA	maintains	a	strict	control	for	energy	and	water	usage,	continuously	pro-
moting the utilization of renewable energy sources and recycled water.

•	 In	2013,	renewable	sources	provided	13.7%	of	the	Group’s	energy	consumption.

•	 The	Group	implemented	reforestation	and	green	area	refurbishing	programs	
in the Monterrey’s Bernardo Reyes and Garza Nieto neighborhoods. 

•	 CYDSA	sponsors	the	Chipinque	Ecological	Park	participating	in	reforesting	and	
species protection programs.

•	 All	CYDSA’s	production	units	apply	Environmental	Management	Systems	ori-
ented toward the prevention of water, air and land pollution to adequately 
manage all forms of waste. 

•	 Collaborating	 with	 endangered	 species	 conservation	 groups	 represents	
another element of CYDSA’s environmental commitment. The Group con-
tinued support for the Hawksbill Turtle preservation program in Mexico’s 
southeast region.

2013 Annual Sustainability Report prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI), appears in the Group’s web site: www.cydsa.com/sustainability
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of CYDSÁ s Textiles Division.

Jose	de	Jesus	Montemayor	
Castillo	
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
The figures presented herein should be analyzed in conjunction with CYDSA’s audited 
financial statements and notes, prepared according to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Unless 
otherwise indicated, all figures are expressed in millions of pesos. Foreign exchange num-
bers are expressed in US dollar terms.

The following chapters comprise CYDSA’s Management Discussion and Analysis of 
Operations and Financial Condition:

1. Loans

2. Capital Stock Increase and Stock Split

3. Impact of the Mexican Fiscal Consolidation Tax Reforms 

4. Results

5. Financial Position

1. LOANS

On September 18 of 2012, CYDSA’s subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. signed a five 
year Bilateral Loan Agreement for US$50 million with the New York Branch of Coöpera-
tieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. “Rabobank Nederland”. The draws included 
US$30 million on November 15, 2012 and US$20 million on May 16, 2013. 

The loan financed the nearly completed Electricity and Steam Cogeneration Plant in 
Coatzacoalcos, state of Veracruz.

2. CAPITAL STOCK INCREASE AND STOCK SPLIT

CYDSA’s April 24, 2013 Extraordinary Shareholders´ Meeting approved a Capital Stock ad-
dition. As one of its objectives, the 30 million share increase supports the Group’s Com-
petitiveness and Growth programs.

On May 28, 2013, CYDSA notified the Mexican Stock Exchange of the full underwriting of 
the issue, at a subscription price approved by the Extraordinary Shareholders´ Meeting of 
46 pesos per share.



On October 17, 2013, CYDSA also notified the Mexican Stock Exchange of a 2.82955203003 
to one stock split. The action increased the number of outstanding common shares from 
212,047,700 to 600,000,000 effective October 30, 2013.

The split adjusted the price of CYDSA stock on the Mexican Stock Exchange from 47.01 
pesos per share on October 24, 2013 to 16.61 pesos per share on October 25. By Decem-
ber 31, 2013 the price grew to 19.96 pesos per share.

3. IMPACT OF THE MEXICAN FISCAL CONSOLIDATION TAX REFORMS

In 2010, a new Income Tax Law raised the Corporate Income Tax rate from 28% to 30% 
and also modified, retroactively, the process related to Fiscal Consolidation of Business 
Groups.

In addition, starting in 2014 a new law replaces the current system for Tax Consolidation 
of Business Groups. Under the new Reform, the total of taxable income and taxable loses 
for individual business units, provide a consolidated profit factor applicable to all income 
generating units. The resulting deferred taxes become due in year three.

As a result of these reforms, as of December 31, 2013 CYDSA registered a Tax Liability of 
1,364 million pesos in Other Liabilities. The annual amortization program ends in 2023, 
and includes 182 million of a short term nature.

4. RESULTS

Total Sales

CYDSA’s 2013 Net Consolidated Sales reached 5,183 million pesos, a decrease of 
5.7% from the prior year.

In dollar terms, Sales for 2013 totaled US$407 million, down 2.6% from the previous year’s 
US$418 million. The difference in peso and dollar terms percent change derives from the 
3.0% average appreciation of the Mexican peso when comparing the average exchange 
rate in 2013 against the previous year.

The following sections explain variations in both Domestic and Export Sales during the 
two years.

Domestic Sales

Domestic sales in 2013 reached 4,808 million pesos, a decrease of 1.8% versus 2012.

While 2013 sales of edible Salt to the domestic market grew, Chlorine, Caustic Soda and 
Chemical Specialties reported slight decreases against the previous year.

Conversely, lower cost imports from the Asia-Pacific region reduced prices of Refriger-
ant Gases. 
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1  During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability 
for capturing and destroying HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new process complied 
with rules established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Develop-
ment Organization. As a result, in November 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos carbon Certified 
Emission Reductions (CERs), salable in the international carbon bond market. Starting in May, 2013 this specific type of Certificate 
was banned in the European market.

Export Sales

Export Sales of US$29.4 million, decreased 36.4% when compared to the prior year. This 
decrease resulted primarily from the stoppage of carbon Certified Emission Reductions 
(CERs1) sales in 2013.

Sales by Business Segment

The following chart depicts Sales by Business Segment for the years 2012 and 2013:

TOTAL SALES
BY BUSINESS
SEGMENT *
2012 AND 2013
Millions of pesos

Chemical
Specialties

and Products

Acrylic
Yarns

CYDSA
Consolidated

5,228
4.9%

5,498 5,183

270 210

2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

4,973

22.1%

5.7%

Millions of dollars 398 391 20 16 418 407
Change 2013 vs 2012 1.8% 19.5% 2.6%

2013 Sales of the Chemical Products and Specialties Segment, reached 4,973 million, a 
decrease of 4.9% compared to the prior year. Two factors accounted for most of the de-
cline. Refrigerant gas prices decreased due to higher imports of low cost product from 
the Asia-Pacific area and the discontinuance of CER sales. 

Sales of Acrylic Yarns totaled 210 million pesos during 2013, a decrease of 22.1% from the 
prior year. This business remains negatively affected by lower volume in both domestic 
and international markets. The Mexican Textile Industry continues to face mounting com-
petition from both textile and apparel manufactures, mostly of Asian-Pacific origin, often 
using unfair or illegal trade practices.



Operating Income

2013 Gross Profit2 of 1,918 million pesos, decreased 9.4% from 2,118 million generated 
during the previous year. Cost increases in gas and electricity and price reductions in re-
frigerant gases provided for most of the decline.

Sales and Administrative Expenses for 2013 reached 1,057 million pesos, down 7.0% from 
the 1,137 million reported for the prior year.

Other Income, net, reached 1 million pesos in 2013, compared to the 17 million re-
ported for 2012.

As a result, CYDSA totaled an Operating Income (EBIT) of 862 million pesos in 2013, 
compared with 998 million the prior year, a decrease of 13.6%. Operating Income on Sales 
for 2013 reached 16.6%, versus 18.2% in 2012.

Operating Cash Flow

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)
3
 for 2013 reached 1,027 million pesos, a decrease of 

11.2% from the 1,156 million attained during the previous year. The causes for the reduc-
tion in Gross Profit also apply to the decrease in Operating Income (EBIT) and EBITDA.

In dollar terms, 2013 EBITDA amounted to US$80.7 million, a drop of 8.2% from US$87.9 
million reported for 2012. 

EBITDA as a percentage of Sales reached 19.8% in 2013, declining from 21.0% the prior year.

Financial Income (Expenses), net

In 2013, Financial Income, net (after interest income and foreign exchange result) totaled 
10 million pesos, compared to a Net Financial Expense of 43 million pesos registered for 
the previous year.

A table comparing 2013 Financial Expenses, Net with those of 2012 follows:

2013 2012 Change
Financial Expenses  (131)  (187)  56
Interest Income 145  179  (34)
Foreign Exchange Result, Net (4)  (35)  31
Financial Income (Expenses), net 10  (43)  53

The foregoing table shows a foreign exchange loss of 4 million pesos, caused by a Mexi-
can peso depreciation of 0.9%. This resulted from an exchange rate of 12.97 pesos per 
dollar at the end of 2012 moving to 13.08 pesos at December 31st of 2013. During 2012, a 
foreign exchange appreciation of 7.0% took place. As of year-end 2012 CYDSA’s monetary 
dollar assets exceeded its foreign currency liabilities, a foreign exchange loss of 35 million 
occurred. 

2 Gross Profit is defined as Sales less Cost of Sales.

3 Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA equals Income before: Net Financial Income (Expenses), Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortization. 
EBITDA amounts to Operating Income plus non-cash items.
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Profit Sharing in Associated Companies

2013 Profit Sharing expenses in Associated Companies totaled 16 million pesos and de-
rive from service companies in which CYDSA maintains a non-controlling position.

Income before Income Tax

Income before Income Tax amounted to 856 million pesos in 2013 versus 955 million 
reported for 2012. 

Income Tax

Income Tax for 2013 totaled 349 million pesos, compared to 338 million reported for the 
prior year.

Net Consolidated Income

During 2013, CYDSA registered a Net Consolidated Income in the amount of 507 
million pesos (9.8% on Sales), decreasing 110 million or 17.8% when compared to 2012 
Net Income of 617 million (11.2% on Sales). 

5. FINANCIAL POSITION

A summary of the relevant Balance Sheets items (Statement of Financial Position) as of 
December of each year follows (figures in millions of pesos).

December
2013

December
2012 Change

Current Assets 5,378  5,685  (307)
Non-Current Assets 7,080  5,091 1,989
Total Assets  12,458 10,776 1,682

Current Liabilities 1,376  1,121  255
Non-Current Liabilities 3,647  3,675   (28)
Total Liabilities 5,023  4,796  227

Shareholders’ Equity 7,435  5,980 1,455

Explanations of major changes as of December 31, 2013 compared to the previous year 
appear below.



Current Assets

The previous table shows Current Assets decreasing 307 million pesos, moving from 
5,685 million as of year-end 2012 to 5,378 million on December 2013. The main reasons 
for the decrease in Current Assets result from the use of Cash in the Group´s Competitive-
ness and Growth Investments. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, comprise the most substantial part of Current Assets amount-
ing to 3,900 million as of the close of 2013.

Non-Current Assets

Non-Current Assets of 7,080 million as of December 31, 2013, grew by 1,989 million pe-
sos, from 5,091 million reported at the close of 2012, due largely to Investments in Fixed 
Assets, net of depreciation.

Total Liabilities

CYDSA’s Total Liabilities as of December 31, 2013 of 5,023 million, increased by 227 mil-
lion compared to the 4,796 million reported at the end of 2012. The significant changes 
appear in the following table (figures in millions of pesos). 

December 31,
2013 vs 2012

New Debt  245

Payment of Bank Debt  (181)

Impact of Peso depreciation on dollar denominated Bank Debt  31

Decrease in Trade Payables  (83)

Increase in Income Taxes Payable  215

Increase in Total Liabilities  227

CYDSA closed 2013 with Bank Debt equivalent to 2,328 million pesos (US$177.9 mil-
lion), an increase of 95 million pesos (US$5.7 million) compared to 2,233 million pesos 
(US$172.2 million) as of December 31, 2012. CYDSA’s Bank Debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.26 at 
year-end 2013, compares to 1.93 as of December 31, 2012.
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 4 On April 24 of 2013, the General Shareholders´ Meeting declared a dividend for 152 million, paid in May of 2013. In addition, on December 9, 
2013 a General Shareholders´ Meeting declared dividends in the amount of 150 million, paid during that same month of December.

5 In accordance to IFRS standards, the US dollar represents the functional currency for these Businesses, due to the fact that such currency cons-
titutes the reference for their main income items and/or operating costs. 

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ Equity reached 7,435 million as of the close of 2013, an increase of 1,455 
million pesos from the 5,980 million reported on December 31, 2012. The main causes for 
this increase follow (figures in millions of pesos).

December 31,
2013 vs 2012

Increase in Capital Stock (Capital Stock plus Additional paid-in 
Capital)

1,339

2013 Net Income 507
Repurchase of Own Shares (119)
Dividend Payment to Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.4 (302)
Foreign Exchange Conversion Effect in the Chlorine-Caustic 

Soda and Refrigerant Gases Businesses5 30
Increase in Shareholders’ Equity 1,455

After considering the previously described capital increase and changes in Shareholder´s 
Equity, combined with the impact of the stock split, the Book Value per Share as of De-
cember 31, 2013 reached 11.96 pesos, favorably comparing to the 9.55 pesos reported at 
the close of 2012.



Deloitte se refiere a Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, sociedad privada de responsabilidad limitada en el Reino Unido, y a su red de 
firmas miembro, cada una de ellas como una entidad legal única e independiente. Conozca en www.deloitte.com/mx/conozcanos la 
descripción detallada de la estructura legal de Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited y sus firmas miembro.

Galaz, Yamazaki, 
Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Lázaro Cárdenas 2321 Poniente, PB
Residencial San Agustín
66260 Garza García, N.L.
México
Tel: +52 (81) 8133 7300
Fax: +52 (81) 8133 7383
www.deloitte.com/mx

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and 
subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 
of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and the consolidated statements of income,  comprehensive 
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and for such internal control as Management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the au-
dit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclo-
sures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the au-
ditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and 
their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English for the 
convenience of users. 

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C. P. C. Sergio Jaramillo Gomez
February 26,  2014



CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

 Ing. Tomas Gonzalez Sada
Chairman of the Board, President 

and Chief Executive Officer

C.P. Jose de Jesus Montemayor Castillo
Chief Financial Officer

Notes 2013 2012
 ASSETS   

Current assets: $ $
Cash and cash equivalents: 6

Funds for general uses  641  767
Funds for specific uses 3,259 3,577

Trade receivables, net  7 718 771
Other receivables 8 326 175
Inventories, net 9 434 395

Total current assets  5,378 5,685
Non-current assets:
Investment in associates and joint venture 10 90 102
Property, plant and equipment, net 11 6,550 4,633
Intangible assets, net 12 223 159
Deferred income tax 19 217 197

Total non-current assets 7,080 5,091
Total assets $ 12,458 $ 10,776

  
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt 13 $ 444 $ 182
Trade payables 465 545
Other payables 14 467 394

Total current liabilities  1,376 1,121
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt 13 1,861 2,019
Employee termination and retirement benefit plans 15 482 491
Taxes payable 19 1,182 985
Long-term provisions 17 122 180

Total non-current liabilities  3,647 3,675
Total liabilities   5,023 4,796

Provisions, commitments and contingencies 17
      

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 18
Capital stock 2,825 2,615
Additional paid-in capital 1,129 -
Repurchase of own shares  (129) (371)
Retained earnings 3,249 3,410
Accumulated other comprehensive income  104 75
Equity attributable to shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. 7,178 5,729
Non-controlling interest  257 251

Total shareholders’ equity  7,435 5,980
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 12,458 $ 10,776

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

Notes 2013 2012

Net sales 24-b) $ 5,183 $ 5,498

Cost of sales (3,265) (3,380)

Selling expenses (678) (616)

Administrative expenses  (379) (521)

Other operating income 23 1 17

                Operating income 862 998

Interest expenses (131) (187)

Interest income 145 179

Foreign exchange (4) (35)

Net financial  income (expenses) 10 (43)

Share in results of associates and joint venture 10 (16) -

                Income before income taxes 856 955

Income taxes 19 (349) (338)

Net consolidated income $ 507 $ 617

Net income attributable to:

Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. $ 502 $ 569

Non-controlling interest         5 48

Basic earnings per share for the shareholders´ 
      of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.  (Note) $ 0.93 $ 1.11

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

 (Note)  In Mexican pesos. Determined on the basis of 538,669,388 and 511,632,935 weighted average shares outstanding in 2013 and 2012, res-
pectively. Weighted average shares for 2012 were remeasured based on the changes described in Note 18 for comparative purposes. 



CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

2013 2012

Net consolidated income $ 507 $ 617

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will be reclassified to consolidated net income, net of tax:

Translation effects of foreign operations 33 (181)

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated net income, net of tax:

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (3) (16)

Total other comprehensive income 30 (197)

Total consolidated comprehensive income $ 537 $ 420

Comprehensive income attributable to :

Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. $ 531 $ 384

Non-controlling interest 6 36

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 
( In millions of Mexican pesos ) 

Other comprehensive income

Capital stock Paid-in capital

Repurchase  
of own 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
shares

Translation 
effects of 

foreign 
operation

Re-measurement 
of the net 

defined benefit 
liability

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders 
of Cydsa, 

S.A.B. de C.V.
Non-controlling 

interest

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balances as of January 1, 2012 $ 2,615 $ $ (256) $ 2,918 $ (12) $ 274 $ (14) $ 5,525 $ 215 $ 5,740 

Shares repurchased                      (115) (115)                      (115)

Dividends paid                      (75)                        (75)                                               (75)

Share-based payments                           (2) 12 10                                                          10 

                  2,615                    (371)                  2,841 274   (14)                      5,345 215                  5,560 

Net consolidated income                      569                        569 48                       617 

Other comprehensive income (169)                         (16) (185) (12)                      (197) 

Consolidated comprehensive income                      569 (169)                         (16)                        384 36                      420

Balances as of December 31, 2012           2,615           (371)           3,410                            105               (30)           5,729                   251          5,980 

Issuance of capital stock 210 1,129             1,339 1,339

Cancelled shares 361 (361)

Repurchase of own shares (119) (119) (119)

Dividends paid (302) (302) (302)

          2,825 1,129 (129) 2,747 105 (30) 6,647 251 6,898

Net consolidated income 502 502 5 507

Other comprehensive income 32 (3) 29 1 30

Consolidated comprehensive income 502 32 (3) 531 6 537

Balances as of December 31, 2013 $ 2,825 $ 1,129 $ (129) $ 3,249 $ $ 137 $ (33) $ 7,178 $ 257 $ 7,435

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



Other comprehensive income

Capital stock Paid-in capital

Repurchase  
of own 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
shares

Translation 
effects of 

foreign 
operation

Re-measurement 
of the net 

defined benefit 
liability

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders 
of Cydsa, 

S.A.B. de C.V.
Non-controlling 

interest

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balances as of January 1, 2012 $ 2,615 $ $ (256) $ 2,918 $ (12) $ 274 $ (14) $ 5,525 $ 215 $ 5,740 

Shares repurchased                      (115) (115)                      (115)

Dividends paid                      (75)                        (75)                                               (75)

Share-based payments                           (2) 12 10                                                          10 

                  2,615                    (371)                  2,841 274   (14)                      5,345 215                  5,560 

Net consolidated income                      569                        569 48                       617 

Other comprehensive income (169)                         (16) (185) (12)                      (197) 

Consolidated comprehensive income                      569 (169)                         (16)                        384 36                      420

Balances as of December 31, 2012           2,615           (371)           3,410                            105               (30)           5,729                   251          5,980 

Issuance of capital stock 210 1,129             1,339 1,339

Cancelled shares 361 (361)

Repurchase of own shares (119) (119) (119)

Dividends paid (302) (302) (302)

          2,825 1,129 (129) 2,747 105 (30) 6,647 251 6,898

Net consolidated income 502 502 5 507

Other comprehensive income 32 (3) 29 1 30

Consolidated comprehensive income 502 32 (3) 531 6 537

Balances as of December 31, 2013 $ 2,825 $ 1,129 $ (129) $ 3,249 $ $ 137 $ (33) $ 7,178 $ 257 $ 7,435

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
Income before income taxes $ 856 $ 955

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 187 173
Amortization 21 21
Share in results of associates and joint venture 16 -
Interest income (145) (158)
Interest expenses 118 157

1,053 1,148
Changes in working capital:

Trade receivables 53 (12)
Inventories (39) 40
Trade payables (80) (61)

Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Other assets and liabilities (54) 105
Employee termination and retirement benefit plans (9) 21
Income taxes paid (172) (77)

Net cash provided by operating activities 752 1,164
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,219) (1,089)
Investments in associates (3) -
Interest received 145 158

Net cash used in investing activities (2,077) (931)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from loan 245 398
Payment of loan (181) (91)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (302) (75)
Issuance of capital stock 210 -
Additional paid-in capital 1,129 -
Interest paid (96) (119)
Repurchase of own shares (119) (115)

Net cash provided by (used in)  financing activities 886 (2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (439) 231
Adjustment to cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations (5) (177)
Cash and cash equivalents at  beginning of year 4,344 4,290
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3,900 $ 4,344
Funds for general uses $ 641 $ 767
Funds for specific uses 3,259 3,577

Total $ 3,900 $ 4,344

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.



CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(In millions of Mexican pesos) 

1. ACTIVITIES

Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (CYDSA) is a holding company whose core businesses consist in invest-
ing in the stock ownership of subsidiary companies, in order to control their operating and 
financing activities. The principal activities of the subsidiaries include the production and 
marketing of salt, chlorine, caustic soda, refrigerant gases and acrylic yarns. CYDSA is located 
at Ricardo Margain Zozaya Avenue # 565 B, Parque Corporativo Santa Engracia, Zip Code 
66267, San Pedro Garza Garcia, Nuevo Leon, Mexico.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND CONSOLIDATION

a) Financial reporting standards. 

 The Consolidated Financial Statements of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries (the 
Company) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), and their adequations and interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

b) Basis of measurement.

 The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for the financial assets and liabilities which are at fair value.

•	 Historical	cost	

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in ex-
change for goods and services.

•	 Fair	value	

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabil-
ity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another val-
uation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the mea-
surement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these Con-
solidated Financial Statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are 
within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value 
but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2, or value in use in IAS 36.
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 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized 
into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measure-
ments are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets,	for	identical	assets	or	
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observ-
able for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

•	 Level	3	considered	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

c) Basis of consolidation.

 The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of CYDSA and 
those of its controlled subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 1) Has power 
over the investee; 2) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee; and 3) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. The Com-
pany reassesses whether or not it controls an investee, if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control mentioned above.

 Although its bylaws provide equal rights to the 49% shareholder, the Company’s man-
agement has concluded it controls its subsidiary Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V. (refrigerant 
gases), in which CYDSA holds a 51% ownership interest given that it has the power over 
the relevant activities that most significantly affect its returns.

 The interest not attributable to CYDSA´s shareholders is shown as a component of share-
holders’ equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position; and the interest in 
net income is shown in the Consolidated Statements of Income and the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income.

 All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

 The acquired companies are consolidated from the effective date of control, using the 
acquisition method. 

 The principal operating subsidiaries of CYDSA as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are:

Subsidiary % Activities

Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. 100% Production and marketing of salt

Industria Quimica del Istmo, 
S.A. de C.V.

100% Production and marketing of 
chlorine and caustic soda

Iquisa Santa Clara, S.A. de C.V. 100% Production and marketing of 
chlorine and caustic soda

Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V.  51% Production and marketing of 
refrigerant gases

Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V. 100% Production and marketing of 
acrylic yarns



 Changes in partnership for existing subsidiaries.

 Changes in investments in subsidiaries of CYDSA that do not result in a loss of control are 
recognized as equity transactions. The carrying value of investments and non-control-
ling interests of the Company is adjusted to reflect changes in the related investments in 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, is recognized directly 
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

 When CYDSA loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated 
as the difference between: 1) The sum of the fair value of the consideration received 
and the fair value of any retained interest; and 2) the value in previous books of the as-
sets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling partici-
pation. The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income items relating to the 
subsidiary are recorded (i.e. are reclassified to income or transferred directly to retained 
earnings) in the same established manner for the event of the disposal of the assets or 
relevant liabilities. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date when control is lost, is regarded as the fair value for initial recognition on subse-
quent accounting treatment, according to International Accounting Standards (IAS) 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Valuation, or where applicable, the cost on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or entity under joint control.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES

a) Investment in associates and joint ventures.

 An associate is an entity over which CYDSA has significant influence. Significant influ-
ence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control, which exists only when decisions about the rel-
evant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

 The assets, liabilities and results of associates or joint ventures, where the Company 
maintains a participation of 50% or less of its equity, are incorporated in these Consoli-
dated Financial Statements under the equity method.

b) Translation of subsidiaries financial statements considered as foreign operations.

 The functional currency of the subsidiaries Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V., Industria Quimica 
del Istmo, S.A. de C.V., Iquisa Santa Clara, S.A. de C.V., Iquisa Noreste, S.A. de C.V., as well as 
a cash flow generating unit of Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V., has been defined as the US dol-
lar; because their main economic activities are significantly influenced by the US dollar.

 To consolidate the financial statements of its domestic subsidiaries considered to be for-
eign operations, the Company translates their financial statements from the recording 
(Mexican peso) to the functional currency (US dollar), using the following exchange rates: 
1) For monetary assets and liabilities, the closing exchange rate in effect at the balance 
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sheet date; 2) for non-monetary assets and liabilities, and shareholders’ equity, the histor-
ical exchange rates; and 3) for revenues, costs and expenses, the date they were incurred, 
except those arising from non-monetary items that are translated using the historical 
exchange rate for the related non-monetary item. Such translation effects are recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Subsequently, to translate 
the financial statements from the functional currency to the reporting currency (Mexican 
peso), the following exchange rates are used: 1) The closing exchange rate in effect at the 
Statements of Financial Position date for assets and liabilities; and 2) historical exchange 
rates for shareholders’ equity, revenues, costs and expenses. Such translation effects, net 
of taxes, are recorded on shareholders’ equity in other comprehensive income.

c) Revenues. 

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, for 
products supplied to customers and the sale of Carbon Certified Emission Reductions 
(CERs); reduced by discounts or bonuses granted to customers.

 Revenues are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income when the following 
conditions are met:

•	 The	Company	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	risks	and	benefits	arising	
from ownership of the inventories;

•	 The	Company	does	not	retain	any	continuing	managerial	involvement,	to	the	degree	
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 The	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

•	 It	is	probable	that	the	Company	receives	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	
transaction; and

•	 The	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	related	to	the	transaction	can	be	measured	
reliably.

d) Cost of sales.

 Cost of sales is determined on the basis of cost of production or purchase, using the ab-
sorption costing method.

e) Selling and administrative expenses and other income (expenses). 

 Selling and administrative expenses and other income (expenses) are presented ac-
cording to their function, because this is the practice of the industry in which the Com-
pany operates.

f ) Operating income. 

 Operating income is the result of subtracting cost of sales, selling and administrative 
expenses and other income (expenses) from net sales. While IAS 1, “Presentation of 
Financial Statements”, does not require inclusion of this line item in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income, it has been included for a better understanding of the Company’s 
economic and financial performance.



g) Financial assets.

 Financial assets are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

 Financial assets are initially valued at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or subtracted from the fair value of financial as-
sets, if any, at their initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acqui-
sition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in the results.

 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: Financial assets “at 
fair value through profit or loss”, “held to maturity” investments, “available for sale” and 
“loans and receivables”.

 The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is deter-
mined at the time of initial recognition.

 The Company has no financial assets available for sale during any of the periods presented.

•	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.

 Financial assets at their fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for 
trading. A financial asset is classified as held for trading, if it has been acquired princi-
pally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. The derivatives are classified as held 
for trading unless they are designated as a hedging instrument.

 Financial assets registered at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at 
fair value and transaction costs are registered as expenses in the Consolidated State-
ments of Income. Gains or losses from changes in fair value of these assets are pre-
sented in the results of the period in which they are incurred.

•	 Held	to	maturity	investments.

 Held to maturity investments are valued at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment.

•	 Accounts	receivable	from	customers	and	other	receivables.

 Accounts receivable from customers and other receivables with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “accounts receivable”. 
These include: Trade receivables, other receivables, bank balances and cash; are stated 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment. Inter-
est income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for accounts 
receivable in the short-term, in the event that the recognition of interest is immaterial.

 The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The ef-
fective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effec-
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tive interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 Income is recognized on the effective interest rate for debt instruments other than 
those financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss.

h) Impairment of financial assets.

 Financial assets, other than those valued at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to 
impairment tests at the end of each reporting period. Impairment is determined when 
there is objective evidence, as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial 
recognition of the financial asset, which may affect the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset.

 Objective evidence of impairment can include, any of the following:

•	 Significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty.

•	 Breach	of	contract,	such	as	non-payment	of	interest	or	principal.

•	 When	it	is	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	reorganization.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss for all finan-
cial assets, except for accounts receivable from customers, where the carrying amount 
is reduced through an allowance for doubtful accounts. When a customer account is 
considered uncollectible, it is written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

i) Inventories and cost of sales. 

 The Company uses absorption costing for its inventory. Inventory cost includes both the 
direct and indirect production fixed and variable costs, based on the average cost method.

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable 
value represents the estimated selling price of inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

 The Company reviews the carrying value of inventories, when any indicator of impair-
ment suggests that their carrying amount may not be recoverable by estimating its net 
realizable value. The determination is based on the most reliable evidence available at 
the time the estimated amount is expected to be realized. Impairment is recorded if the 
net realizable value is less than the carrying value. The impairment indicators considered 
for these purposes are, among others, obsolescence, a decrease in market prices, dam-
age and firm sales commitments. 



j) Property, plant and equipment.

 Property, plant and equipment used in the production process or for administrative pur-
poses are recorded at cost less the accumulated depreciation and / or accumulated im-
pairment losses, if any. Assets are classified into the corresponding category of property, 
plant and equipment when completed. Depreciation of these assets commences when 
the asset is ready for its intended use.

 Costs for loans associated to financing of property, plant and equipment whose acquisi-
tion or construction requires a substantial period, are capitalized as part of the cost of 
acquiring those assets, until so far as they are suitable for their intended use. During the 
year ended December 31, 2013, costs attributable to the construction of industrial ma-
chinery and equipment for $78 were capitalized. 

 Land is not depreciated. 

 Depreciation is calculated under the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives 
and residual values of assets. The estimation of the useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, the effects of any changes are recognized 
prospectively as a change in estimate.

 The ranges of estimated useful lives of the main assets of the Company are as follows: 

Years

Buildings and constructions 4 to 37

Industrial machinery and equipment 6 to 10

Office furniture and equipment  2 to 6

Vehicles  2 to 6

Computer equipment  1 to 3

 The gain or loss on the sale or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognized in other operating income (expenses), net.

 All significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to the buyer, 
which normally occurs during the transfer of the ownership of the property.

k) Leases.

 Leases are classified as financial leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee; otherwise it will be classified as an operating lease.

 The Company as lessee – operating lease payments are recognized as expenses using 
the straight-line method over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed. Contingent rents arising under operating leases are recognized as expenses 
in the periods in which they are incurred.

 The Company has no financial leases, nor is the Company a lessor of any asset.
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l) Intangible assets.

 Intangible assets represent payments whose benefits will be received in the future. The 
Company classifies its intangible assets as definite life assets and indefinite-lived assets, 
according to the period in which the Company expects to receive benefits.

 Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their useful lives. Intangible as-
sets with indefinite lives are not amortized and are subject to an annual evaluation of 
impairment.

 The Company´s main intangible asset of definite life is represented by customer listing, 
which is related to the business acquisition. This list is valued at fair value, using the 
method of surplus operating income, which is to discount to present value the projected 
flows attributable to the customer list. It is amortized based on the straight-line method 
over 10 years.

 Additionally, the Company has recognized a goodwill attributable to business acquisitions. 

m) Impairment of intangible and tangible assets.

 At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its 
intangible and tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss.

 If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized in in-
come if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount.

 The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. The value in use is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the value of money considering 
current market and specific risks of the assets.

 If it is estimated that the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
less than its value in use, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in income, for the 
year 2013 and 2012, the Company did not recognize any impairment loss.

 When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in income.



n) Financial liabilities.

 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, or as other financial liabilities. 

 All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of loans and 
borrowings, the directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequently they are measured 
at amortized cost.

 The financial liabilities at amortized cost include banks loans and other payables; using 
the effective interest method. 

 The effective interest rate method determines the present value as estimated payments 
flows throughout the life of the financial liability; the difference between the present 
value and the amount of the net book value of the liability is recognized in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Income. 

 Financial liabilities are classified as short or long-term depending on maturity.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities: The Company derecognizes financial liabilities if, 
and only if, the obligations are fulfilled, are cancelled, expire or are replaced by a new 
liability with significantly changes in the conditions of the contract.

o) Derivative financial instruments.

 The Company obtains financing under different conditions. If the rate is variable, interest 
rate swaps may be entered into to reduce exposure to the risk of interest rate volatility, 
the Company also considers entering into interest rate swaps, in order to convert the in-
terest rate from variable to fixed. These instruments are negotiated only with institutions 
of recognized financial strength. 

 The Company’s policy is not to carry out transactions with derivative financial instru-
ments for speculation purpose.

 Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value using prices quoted in the financial mar-
ket. If such instruments are not traded, fair value is determined by applying recognized 
valuation techniques. 

 The fair value of these instruments is determined based on the present value of cash 
flows. This method involves estimating future cash flows of derivatives according to the 
fixed rate of the derivative and the market curve at that date to determine the variable 
flows, using the appropriate discount rate to estimate the present value. 

 When entering into a derivative financial instrument, the Company reviews the informa-
tion to meet the hedging requirements; documenting its designation at the beginning 
of the hedging transaction by describing the transaction’s objectives, characteristics, ac-
counting treatment and how the effectiveness of the instrument will be measured. 
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 Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedges are recognized 
as follows: (1) For fair value hedges, changes in both the derivative instrument and the 
hedged item are stated at fair value and recognized in current earnings; or (2) for cash 
flow hedges, changes in the effective portion are temporarily recognized as a compo-
nent of comprehensive income and in shareholder´s equity, and then reclassified to cur-
rent earnings when affected by the hedged item. The ineffective portion of the change 
in fair value is recognized in current earnings.

 The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the derivative instrument matures, 
is sold, cancelled or exercised, when the derivative instrument does not reach a high 
percentage of effectiveness to compensate for changes in fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged item, or when the Company decides to cancel its designation as a hedge.

 For cash flow hedges, upon discontinuing hedge accounting, the amounts recorded in 
shareholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income remain there until the 
time when the effects of the forecasted transaction or firm commitment affect current 
earnings. If it is not likely that the firm commitment or forecasted transaction will occur, 
the gains or losses that accumulated in other comprehensive income are recognized in 
current earnings. When the hedge of a forecasted transaction has proven satisfactory, but 
subsequently the hedge fails the effectiveness test, the cumulative effects recorded with-
in comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity are proportionately recorded in current 
earnings, to the extent that the forecasted asset or liability affects current earnings.

 While certain derivative financial instruments are contracted for hedging from an eco-
nomic point of view, they are not designated as hedges because they do not meet all of 
the requirements and are instead classified as held-for-trading for accounting purposes. 
Changes in fair value are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

p) Provisions.

 Provisions are recognized for current obligations that result from a past event, that are 
probable to result in the future use of economic resources, and that can be reasonably 
estimated; long-term provisions are determined at the present value of future cash flows.

 When trials are in process, estimates are made based on information and facts at the 
date of the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

q) Direct employee benefits. 

 Direct employee benefits are calculated based on the services rendered by employees, 
considering their actual salaries. The related liability is recognized as it accrues. These 
benefits primarily include statutory employee profit sharing (PTU) payable, Christmas 
bonuses, vacation premiums and incentives.

r) Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU).

 PTU is recorded in the results of the year in which it is incurred and included in the ac-
counts of cost of sales, selling expenses and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. PTU is determined based on the taxable income under Section I 
of Article 10 of the Income Tax Law.



s) Employee termination and retirement benefits.

 The cost of benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial 
valuations carried out at the end of each reporting period, using economic assumptions 
of conditions of the country and the Company.

 Actuarial re-measurements are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.

 Vested benefit obligation recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Posi-
tion represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of each 
reporting period, adjusted for actuarial gains and losses, less the fair value of plan assets. 
Any asset arising from this calculation is limited to unrecognized actuarial losses, plus 
the present value of reimbursements and reductions of future contributions to the plan.

t) Share-based payments.

 Share-based payments to employees are measured at fair value of the equity instru-
ments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the payment date, is charged 
to income and is recognized based on the gradual acquisition method over the period 
the employee accrues the benefit, based on the estimate of the Company equity instru-
ments that eventually will acquire the employee, with a corresponding increase in equi-
ty. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number 
of equity instruments that are expected to be awarded. The impact of the revision of 
original estimates, if any, is recognized in income in the period such that the cumulative 
expenses reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment in sharehold-
ers’ equity. 

u) Income taxes.

 Income tax expenses represent the sum of the current income tax and deferred taxes.

 Current taxes payable until December 31, 2013 are Income Tax (ISR) and the Business 
Flat Tax (IETU); both are based on taxable income and cash flows for each year. Taxable 
income differs from the net income reported in the Consolidated Statements of Com-
prehensive Income due to items of income or expenses taxable or deductible from prior 
years and items that are never to be taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability in 
respect of tax owed is calculated using tax enacted rates or substantially approved at the 
end of the reporting period.

 Liabilities for deferred income taxes are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences. Assets for deferred taxes are generally recognized for all deductible tempo-
rary differences, if and only if it becomes probable that the taxable income could eventu-
ally cover the deductible temporary differences.

 For purpose of the initial recognition of deferred taxes, these assets and liabilities are 
not recognized if the temporary differences arise from the goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable nor the books result. Deferred tax liabilities 
are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsid-
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iaries, except when the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary differ-
ence and when it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the fore-
seeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences associated with 
such investments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient future taxable profits against those utilized temporary differences and they are 
expected to be reversed in the near future.

 The carrying value of a deferred tax asset should be reviewed at the end of each report-
ing period and should be reduced to the extent that it is considered that there will not 
be sufficient taxable income allowing the asset to be recovered.

 Deferred taxes assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to 
be applied in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially approved the end of the 
reporting period. The valuation of deferred taxes assets and liabilities reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the 
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the book value of its assets and liabilities.

 Income taxes incurred or deferred are recognized as income or expenses in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Income, except when it relates to items that are recognized outside 
the Consolidated Statements of Income, either in other comprehensive income or eq-
uity. In case of a business combination, the tax effect is included in the recognition of the 
business combination.

v) Earnings per share. 

 Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing income corresponding to 
the equity attributable to shareholders of CYDSA by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is determined 
by adjusting common shares outstanding to include equivalent common shares under 
the assumption that the Company’s commitments to issue its own shares will be real-
ized. The basic and diluted earnings is the same for all periods presented. 

w) New and revised IFRS affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the finan-
cial statements.

 From fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, a number of new and revised 
mandatory IFRS were issued by the IASB.

 The new and revised IFRS applied by the Company, are the following:

•	 New	 and	 revised	 Standards	 on	 consolidation,	 joint	 arrangements,	 associates	
and disclosures

 In May 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, as-
sociates and disclosures was issued comprising IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial State-
ments, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 
27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Subsequent to the issue of these stan-
dards, amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain 
transitional guidance on the first-time application of the standards.



•	 IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement

 The Company has applied IFRS 13 for the first time in the current year. IFRS 13 estab-
lishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about 
fair value measurements. The scope of IFRS 13 is broad; the fair value measurement 
requirements of IFRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial in-
strument items for which other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and 
disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based payment transac-
tions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions 
that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some simi-
larities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realizable value for the purposes of 
measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

 IFRS 13 requires prospective application from January 1, 2013. In addition, specific 
transitional provisions were given to entities that don´t need to apply the disclosure 
requirements set out in the Standard in comparative information provided for peri-
ods before the initial application of the Standard.

•	 Amendments	to	 IFRS	7	Disclosures	–	Offsetting	Financial	Assets	and	Financial	
Liabilities

 The amendments to IFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about rights of off-
set and related arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for financial 
instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

 The Company’s management evaluated the application of these new and revised IFRS, 
concluding that they don´t have a significant impact effect in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

4. KEY ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In applying the Company’s accounting policies, as described in Note 3, the Company’s man-
agement, makes judgments, estimates and assumptions about certain amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The estimates and associated as-
sumptions are based on experience and other factors considered relevant. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and associated assumptions are constantly reviewed. Changes to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is changed if the change affects 
only that period, and are recognized in the current period and future periods if the change 
affects both the current and future periods.

a) Key judgments in applying accounting policies.

 Judgment applied for purposes of determination control over the subsidiary Quimoba-
sicos, S.A. de C.V., was established in Note 2 c).
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b) Key accounting estimates. 

 The accounting judgments and key sources of uncertainty in applying the estimates 
made at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, which have a significant risk 
and may result in an adjustment to the book value of assets and liabilities during future 
financial periods, are as follows:

•	 Useful	lives	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.

•	 Projections	to	determine	if	the	Company	is	paying	ISR	or	IETU.

•	 Valuations	to	determine	the	recoverability	of	deferred	tax	assets.

•	 Impairment	of	tangible	and	intangible	assets.

•	 Assumptions	used	for	employee	termination	and	retirement	benefit	plans.

•	 Functional	currency.

•	 Assumptions	used	for	land	remediation	provision.	

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncer-
tainty at the end of the period for which it is reported, that have a significant risk of caus-
ing significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are disclosed 
in the relevant notes for each account or line item affected.

 The Company is subject to contingent transactions or events on which uses professional 
judgment in developing estimates of occurrence probability. The factors considered in 
these estimates are the legal situation at the date of the estimate, and the opinion of 
legal advisors.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

a) Risk factors.

 The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that include: Liquidity, 
the interest rate, market, exchange rate, fair value of financial instruments, trade receiv-
ables, capital management and derivate financial instruments. The Company seeks to 
minimize potential adverse effects of these risks on its financial performance through a 
comprehensive program of risk management.

 Financial risk management is governed by the Policies of the Company approved by the 
Corporate Governance Practices and Audit Committee and is carried out by the Corpo-
rate Treasury. The Company identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks. The Corpo-
rate Treasury regularly reports its activities to the Planning and Finance Committee, a 
group of the Board of Directors that monitors risks and policies implemented to mitigate 
risk exposure.



b) Liquidity risk.

 Diverse economic or industry factors, such as financial crises, could affect the cash flow 
of the Company. These factors are not controllable by the Company. However, the Com-
pany manages liquidity risk through analysis and continuous monitoring of actual and 
projected cash flows to anticipate and handle any eventuality in order to meet all obliga-
tions. The Company has established a framework for risk management by maintaining 
special purpose funds, and to establish an appropriate diversification of its debt in both 
term and funding sources.

 The following table details the Company’s expected maturity for its derivative and non-
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been designed based on the undiscounted 
contractual maturities of financial liabilities. Inclusion of information on derivative and 
non-derivative financial liabilities is necessary to understand the Company´s liquidity 
risk management.

Less than
a year

Between 
1 and 2

years

Between 
3 and 5

years
As of December 31, 2013
Suppliers and other payables $ 882 $ 164 $ 93

Short and long-term debt 
(excluding debt issuance costs) 46 712 1,570

As of December 31, 2012
Suppliers and other payables  $ 910 $ 181  $ 185 

Short and long-term debt
 (excluding debt issuance costs)  45  532  1,656 

c) Interest rate risk.

 As part of the strategy to improve the capital structure, the Company has financed part 
of the capital investments made with credit lines from financial institutions. The Com-
pany expects to continue applying this strategy in the future.

 The credit lines established for the payment of interest at a variable rate, expose the 
Company to interest rate risk. The risk exposure is mainly to the variations that could oc-
cur in the interest rates used as a reference in Mexico (Interbank Interest Rate or TIIE at 28 
days) and the United States of America ( 3 month or 1 month London Interbank Offered 
Rate “LIBOR”).

 The Company constantly monitors the evolution of these interest rates. Historically the 
tendency of the 28-day TIIE and 3 month LIBOR has been downward. TIIE at 28 days at the 
end of 2013 closed at 3.7950%, while the 3 month LIBOR closed at 0.2461%. Therefore, 
the Company has no hired hedge instruments to hedge the risk of rising interest rates. In 
the future, if the behavior of the reference rates established in its loan agreements have 
a trend change to upside, the Company might acquire a hedging instrument.
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 As of December 31, 2013, the Company recorded a short and long-term debt balance 
amounting $2,328 (excluding accrued interest) at a variable rate, of which $325, bear-
ing interest at a rate of 28-day TIIE plus 2.5 basis points and $2,003 bearing interest at 3 
month LIBOR plus 2.6 basis points. Interest expenses for the years 2013 and 2012 were 
$83 and $79, respectively. 

d) Market risk.

 The Company’s main risk involves changes in the value of the Mexican peso against the 
US dollar, as well as the international prices of some of the inputs and outputs. Dur-
ing 2013 and 2012, the Company’s consolidated revenues of 68% and 71%, respectively, 
arise from subsidiaries with the US dollar as its functional currency. Substantially all oth-
er revenues are denominated in Mexican pesos. 

 The Company depends on its suppliers for the providing of raw materials. Gas and elec-
tricity are raw materials used in the production of chlorine and caustic soda, as well as 
salt, and in recent years the price of these inputs have presented volatility. The reference 
market price for natural gas Henry Hub is the New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX); 
the average price per MBTU, during 2013 and 2012 were 3.73 and 2.79 dollars, respec-
tively. The CFE is a decentralized public company in charge of producing and distribut-
ing electricity in Mexico. Electricity rates have been influenced also by the volatility of 
natural gas, which is used to generate electricity.

 Others consolidated costs and expenses of the Company are denominated in pesos (ex-
cept for the fees for technical services, to the extent they are paid based on a fixed mini-
mum annual payment).

e) Exchange rate risk.

 The Company maintains balances of cash and cash equivalents denominated in US dol-
lars of 32.5% as of December 31, 2013 and 63% as of December 31, 2012. Based on a 10% 
depreciation of the Mexican peso against the US dollar, the value of cash and cash equiv-
alents would increase by $127 and $ 273 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

 Loan agreements were held in foreign currency by US$153 and US$144 million dollars at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Based on the 10% depreciation of the Mexi-
can peso against the dollar, it is considered that the value of the debt would have been 
increased by $200 and $187 respectively, which would result in a foreign exchange loss 
for such amounts.

 Management evaluates, considering market conditions, the necessity of hiring hedges 
to cover the exchange rate risk.



f ) Fair value of financial instruments.

 The amounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable ap-
proximate their fair value due to the fact that have short-term maturities and bear inter-
est at rates tied to market indicators, as appropriate. The long-term debt consists of bank 
credits bearing interest at variable rates tied plus a spread that considers the risks of the 
company and the country from 2% to 2.9% to market indicators and therefore its value 
approximates their fair value.

g) Portfolio risk.

 The Company manages its credit risk related to its portfolio holding transactions with 
well-known and creditworthy counterparties. They have established three credit options 
at 30 and 45 days for the domestic sales and 180 days for export sales. These days are 
granted depending on the guarantee that each client can provide. In case of default, 
would be subject to default interest and/or legal collection process. For both credit con-
tracted customers and cash customers, safeguards have been established, which may 
include the following: Letter of Credit; Mortgage and Pledge Guarantee.

h) Risk capital management.

 The objective of the Company in relation to equity management is to maintain a proper 
balance between equity and debt, ensuring return on shareholder´s investment and the 
proper operating continuity.

 The Company’s management reviews monthly the capital structure, which can be ad-
justed or maintained through: Payment of dividends to shareholders, reduction in capi-
tal stock, issue of new shares or assets sales to reduce debt. 

 The Company follows up the financial leverage indicator (dividing total liabilities by 
shareholders equity). This indicator was 0.68 as of December 31, 2013 and 0.80 as of De-
cember 31, 2012.

 Additionally, the Company periodically follows the external factors that may impact 
shareholders’ equity, such as the exchange rate exposure.

i) Derivative financial instruments.

 During 2013, the Company did not use derivative financial instruments.

 On September 10, 2008, the Company entered into an interest rate swap effective on 
December 27, 2008 which was due on September 10, 2012. 
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2013 2012

Funds for general uses:

Cash $ 182 $ 236

Daily investments of cash surpluses 459 531

Total funds for general uses 641 767

Funds for specific uses 3,259 3,577

$ 3,900 $ 4,344

The Company’s Board of Directors approved in a meeting held on November 20, 2013 the es-
tablishment of a separate fund to be used primarily to address long-term tax commitments 
arising from the reform on tax consolidation, investments in strategic projects and expected 
land remediation costs, among others, up to a total of $3,600.

Daily investments of cash surpluses and funds for specific uses are deposited in investment 
funds and money market funds. 

7. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The trade receivables are valued at amortized cost and include amounts that are past due 
at the end of the reporting period, but for which the Company has not recognized any al-
lowance for doubtful accounts as there has been no significant change in the credit quality 
and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Company does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over those balances, nor have the legal right to offset against 
any amount owed by the Company to the counterparty.

Aging of accounts receivable overdue but not uncollectible:

2013 2012

60 to 90 days $ 16 $ 5

More than 90 days 20 12

$ 36 $ 17

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

2013 2012

Opening balance $ 15 $ 21

Allowance for the year - 1

Cancelations (1) (7)

Ending balance $ 14 $ 15



8. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2013 2012

Recoverable taxes $ 222 $ 128
Advances to vendors 58 12
Insurance and payment bonds 9 12
Guarantee deposits 7 9
Others 30 14

$ 326 $ 175

9. INVENTORIES, NET

2013 2012

Finished goods $ 218 $ 195

Work in process 11 13

Raw materials and components 83 88

Spare parts and accessories 70 64

Other inventories 52  35

$ 434 $ 395 

The balance of inventory was reduced by $5 in 2013 and $7 in 2012, by the allowance for 
slow-moving and obsolete inventory.

The cost of consumption of raw material inventories recognized in cost of sales was $1,010 
and $1,001 for 2013 and 2012, respectively.

10. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE

The financial information related to the Company’s share in associates and joint venture en-
gaged in non-strategic activities for the Company, are as follows:

2013 2012

Total assets $ 225 $ 274

Total liabilities 1  1

Net assets $ 224 $  273

Equity in associates and joint venture $ 90 $  102

Total sales $ 73 $  25

Net loss for the year $ (17) $ (5)

Share in results of associates and joint venture $ (16) $ - 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

 Land
Buildings and 
constructions

Industrial 
machinery and 

equipment

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Vehicles
Computer 

equipment
Projects in 

process Total

INVESTMENT  

Balances as of January 1, 2012 $ 1,286 $ 1,808 $ 6,813 $ 69 $ 36 $ 53 $ 269  $ 10,334

Additions 65 30 74 5 15 900 1,089

Transfers to related assets (290) (290)

Translation effects (31) (67) (407) (1) (1) (2) (4) (513)

Balances as of December 31, 2012 1,320 1,771 6,480 68 40 66 875 10,620

Additions 166 130 19 10 9 7 1,878 2,219

Transfers to related assets  (69)  (61) (4) 7 (5) (85) (217)

Translation effects 5 11 71 1 10 98

Balances as of December 31, 2013 1,422 1,912 6,509 74 56 69 2,678 12,720

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2012  (966)  (5,273)  (52)  (18)  (39)  (6,348)

Depreciation for the year (23) (138) (2) (4) (6) (173)

Transfers to related assets (11) 199 2 190 

Translation effects  32 309 1 1 1 344

Balances as of December 31, 2012  (968)  (4,903)  (51)  (21)  (44)  (5,987)

Depreciation for the year (26) (145) (3) (5) (8) (187)

Transfers to related assets 67 4 (5) 4 70

Translation effects (6) (60) (66)

Balances as of December 31, 2013 (1,000) (5,041) (50) (31) (48) (6,170)

Property, plant and equipment, net 
as of December 31, 2013 $ 1,422 $ 912 $ 1,468 $ 24 $  25 $  21 $ 2,678 $ 6,550 



11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

 Land
Buildings and 
constructions

Industrial 
machinery and 

equipment

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Vehicles
Computer 

equipment
Projects in 

process Total

INVESTMENT  

Balances as of January 1, 2012 $ 1,286 $ 1,808 $ 6,813 $ 69 $ 36 $ 53 $ 269  $ 10,334

Additions 65 30 74 5 15 900 1,089

Transfers to related assets (290) (290)

Translation effects (31) (67) (407) (1) (1) (2) (4) (513)

Balances as of December 31, 2012 1,320 1,771 6,480 68 40 66 875 10,620

Additions 166 130 19 10 9 7 1,878 2,219

Transfers to related assets  (69)  (61) (4) 7 (5) (85) (217)

Translation effects 5 11 71 1 10 98

Balances as of December 31, 2013 1,422 1,912 6,509 74 56 69 2,678 12,720

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2012  (966)  (5,273)  (52)  (18)  (39)  (6,348)

Depreciation for the year (23) (138) (2) (4) (6) (173)

Transfers to related assets (11) 199 2 190 

Translation effects  32 309 1 1 1 344

Balances as of December 31, 2012  (968)  (4,903)  (51)  (21)  (44)  (5,987)

Depreciation for the year (26) (145) (3) (5) (8) (187)

Transfers to related assets 67 4 (5) 4 70

Translation effects (6) (60) (66)

Balances as of December 31, 2013 (1,000) (5,041) (50) (31) (48) (6,170)

Property, plant and equipment, net 
as of December 31, 2013 $ 1,422 $ 912 $ 1,468 $ 24 $  25 $  21 $ 2,678 $ 6,550 
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Derived from the acquisition of the Iquisa Santa Clara plant in October 2010, the fair value of 
the customers list was determined as an intangible asset.

The balances as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, are $223 and $159, respectively.

The Company will amortize 10% of the customers list’s fair value on a straight line method 
until 2020. The amount of such amortization was $21 for the years ended December 31, 
2013 and 2012.

13. LONG-TERM DEBT 

a) Long-term debt as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

 

Interest 
rates* 2013

Interest 
rates* 2012

Bank loans secured in US 
dollars abroad (1) 2.49% $ 1,983 3.01% $ 1,845

Bank loans secured in 
domestic currency 6.30% $ 322 7.33% $ 356

2,305  2,201 

Current portion of long-term 
debt 444  182 

Long-term debt $ 1,861 $ 2,019 

(*) Weighted average rates (net of tax) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

(1)  In 2013 and 2012, this liability corresponds to debts with Citibank N.A. Nassau Bahamas Branch, Banco 
Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S.A., ING Bank, N.V. Dublin Branch, Coöperatieve Centrale Raif-
feissen-Boerenleenbank B.A. “Rabobank Nederland” New York Branch, and Banco Mercantil del Norte, 
S.A. Institucion de Banca Multiple, Grupo Financiero Banorte.

b) Signed of bilateral loan in 2012.

 On September 18, 2012, the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V., Chemical Sub- 
Holding, signed a Bilateral Credit amounting US$50 million for a term of 5 years with 
Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. “Rabobank Nederland”, New York 
Branch. The draws included US$30 million on November 15, 2012 and US$20 million on 
May 16, 2013.

 Funds from this credit are applied to a Cogeneration Plant of electricity and steam, which 
is in progress of construction in Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz, Mexico.

c) The syndicated loan agreements establish certain financial covenants the Company 
must comply with. The Company was in compliance with such covenants as of Decem-
ber 31, 2013.



d) Maturities of Long-term debt as of December 31, 2013 are as follows:

 

 Year Amount

2015 $ 314

2016 1,276

2017 271

$ 1,861

14. OTHER PAYABLES

2013 2012
Income taxes $ 182   $ 169 
Current maturities of land remediation obligation 50  29 
Other taxes 24  19 
Fixed assets suppliers 121  68 
Wages and salaries 25  42 
Freights and services 28  34 
Interest payable 6  4
Advances from customers 7  3 
Dividends 3  2 
Others 21  24 

$ 467 $  394 

15. EMPLOYEE TERMINATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

a) The Company has a retirement plan under the defined benefit scheme which covers an 
amount equal to 3 months and 20 days per year worked for those who reach 65 years 
of age.

 This plan also covers seniority premiums as described by the Federal Labor Law.

b) The Company also has a protection plan for death and total permanent disability com-
pensation for its employees and / or beneficiaries as appropriate. The benefit of this pro-
tection is obtained by selecting the greater of the following options:

•	 Integrated	salary	of	24	months.

•	 The	amount	equivalent	to	three	months	and	20	days	per	year	worked;	this	will	be	paid	
on an integrated salary basis.

 The funds constituted for this protection consist in dues of companies affiliated to this 
plan in Centro Social y Cultural, A.C.

 The related liability and annual cost of benefits to employees are calculated by an inde-
pendent actuary on the basis set out in the plans using the projected unit credit method.
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c) The main assumptions used for actuarial valuations purposes are:

2013 2012

Discount of projected benefit obligation
 at present value 6.40% 6.50%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 4.00% 6.50%

Salary increase 3.75% 4.00%

Future pension increase 3.50% 3.80%

Mortality rate 0.66% 0.70%

Disability rate 0.20% 0.30%

Normal retirement age  65  65

Employee turnover rate 4.20% 4.00%

 The methodology for determining the discount rate of labor obligations considers all 
flows for payment of expected benefits in future years. These future flows are discounted 
as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, considering the rate of the M 
Bonds of the Federal Government of Mexico “Cero coupon” further to the correspond-
ing year. Once this present value is determined an equivalent average rate is calculated 
for the whole term and the result of such rate is called the discount rate of the actuarial 
valuations. This discount rate does not use any corporative over rate.

 Based on these assumptions, the next table shows the amounts expected to be paid for 
the following years:

Pension and 
Retirement Plan

Seniority 
Premium Plan  

Protection 
Plan

2014 $ 10 $ 2 $ 9

2015 17 2 9

2016 17 2 9

2017 14 2 9

2018 20 2 8

2019 to 2023 108 13 39

d) Sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumptions.

 The Company analyzed certain actuarial assumptions valued through the projected unit 
credit method which are subject to sensitivity analysis, like the discount rate and the 
incremental salary rate. The reason to select such assumptions are the following: 

•	 Discount	rate:	This	rate	determines	the	obligations	value	through	time.

•	 Incremental	salary	rate:	This	rate	considers	the	salary	increases,	which	implies	an	in-
crease in benefit payments.



 The following table shows the effect in absolute terms of using a variation of 1% in sig-
nificant actuarial assumptions of net liabilities for defined benefit plans: 

 + 1% variation 

Discount rate to calculate the net 
liability (asset) for defined benefits 
and net interest

Cost 
of current 
services

Cost
of past 

services

Net interest 
in the liability 

(asset) for 
defined 
benefits

Pension and retirement plans $ 6 $0 $28

Seniority premiums $ 1 $0 $ 2

Total $ 7 $0 $30

Expected salary increase

Cost 
of current 
services

Cost 
of past 

services

Net interest 
in the liability 

(asset) for 
defined 
benefits

Pension and retirement plans $ 7 $0 $ 26

Seniority premiums $ 1 $0 $ 2

Total $ 8 $0 $ 28

 - 1% variation 

Discount rate to calculate the net 
liability (asset) for defined benefits 
and net interest

Cost 
of current 
services

Cost
of past 

services

Net interest 
in the liability 

(asset) for 
defined 
benefits

Pension and retirement plans $ 7 $0 $ 23

Seniority premiums $ 1 $0 $ 1

Total $ 8 $0 $ 24

Expected salary increase

Cost 
of current 
services

Cost 
of past 

services

Net interest 
in the liability 

(asset) for 
defined 
benefits

Pension and retirement plans $ 6 $0 $ 25

Seniority premiums $ 1 $0 $ 1

Total $ 7 $0 $ 26
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e) The amounts included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position for the Com-
pany’s obligations related to defined benefit plans are:

2013 2012
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation $ 563 $ 571 
Fair value of plan assets (81)  (80)
Present value of unfunded defined benefit 

obligation $ 482 $  491 

f ) Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income:

Cost of 
current 
services

Net interest 
of the 

liability for 
defined 
benefit Net income

Actuarial 
remeasure-

ment
As of December 31, 

2013
Pension and retirement 

plans $ 7 $ 26 $ 33 $ 9

Seniority premiums 1 1 2 -

Retirement compensation - - - (1)
Protection 4 4 8 4

Total $ 12 $ 31 $ 43 $ 12
    

Cost of 
current 
services

Net interest 
of the 

liability for 
defined 
benefit Net income

Actuarial 
remeasure-

ment
As of December 31, 

2012
Pension and retirement 

plans $  6 $ 26 $ 32 $ (22)

Seniority premiums  1  1  2  (1)

Retirement compensation  -  -  -  (4)

Protection  4  4  8  6 

Total $ 11 $ 31 $ 42 $ (21)

 Actuarial service costs amounting $12 and $11 for the years ended December 31, 2013 
and 2012, respectively, have been included in the Consolidated Statements of Income as 
part of selling and administrative expenses.



 Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability recognized in other comprehensive 
income items:

 The remeasurement of the defined benefit liability includes the following:

•	 The	return	on	plan	assets,	excluding	amounts	included	in	interest	costs.	

•	 Actuarial	gains	and	losses	from	changes	in	demographic	assumptions.

•	 Actuarial	gains	and	losses	from	changes	in	financial	assumptions.	

g) The Company makes payments between 2% and 3% of its workers integrated wage lim-
ited to the defined contribution plan related to the established by the law system of 
retirement savings. Expenses for this item was $ 6 in 2013 and 2012.

h) Changes in the net defined benefit liability for pension and retirement plan and for se-
niority premium plan:

Pension and retirement 2013 2012
Opening balance $ 472 $ 444
Cost of current services 7 6
Financial cost 26 26
Actuarial losses (9) 22
Benefits paid (45) (35)

$ 451 $ 463

Seniority premium 2013 2012
Opening balance $ 25 $ 25
Cost of current services 1 1
Financial cost 1 1
Actuarial losses  - 1
Benefits paid (2) (3)

$ 25 $ 25

Protection plan 2013 2012

Opening balance $ 75 $ 72
Cost of current services 4 4
Financial cost 4 4
Actuarial gains (4) (6)
Benefits paid (1) 1

$ 78 $ 75

Retirement compensation 2013 2012

Opening balance $ 8 $ 4
Actuarial losses 1 4

$ 9 $ 8
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i) Changes in plan assets fair value: 

 2013  2012
Plan assets fair value as of January 1, $ 80 $ 72 
Expected return 4 5
Actuarial generated gains and losses (2) 3
Company contributions 46 40
Benefits paid (47)  (40)
Plan assets fair value as of December 31, $ 81 $ 80 

 Categories of plan assets:

Performance
Expected 
long-term Real

Money-market desk 6.4% 3.5%

 The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected returns of the 
plan assets. 

16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has no outstanding share-based payment plans.

17. PROVISIONS, COMMITTMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the current obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is valued using the esti-
mated cash flows to settle the current obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.

During 2010, studies over land located in Santa Clara Coatitla Ecatepec, State of Mexico and 
Pedro Lozano in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, were done for purposes of cleaning and remediat-
ing such land for pollution caused by the industrial plants. Derived from these studies, car-
ried out by independent experts, a provision for the land remediation was recorded.

Yearly movements in the provisions are shown in the following table:

2013 2012
Opening balance $ 209 $ 201
Reductions arising from payments or applications (50) (6)
Financial effect 13 14
Closing balance 172 209
Short-term 50 29
Long-term $ 122 $ 180



a) As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, bank debt for a total of $2,305 and $2,201, respec-
tively, was collateralized by property, machinery and equipment of certain subsidiaries 
with carrying value of $1,774 and $1,788, respectively.

b) As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there are deposits for $169 and $183, respectively, 
principally to guarantee quality assurance and delivery of products to customers.

c) The Company leases office, land, and other assets. Rental expenses amounted to US 
dollars $2.3 million in 2013 and US dollars $2.5 million in 2012. Some contracts contain 
clauses of compulsory terms and conditions, as well as of future increases. The contracts 
do not include restrictions or obligations to do or not do, in addition to the terms of use. 
Also, the lease payments for the following years are in millions of dollars as follows:

Year Amount

2014 1.5

2015 1.0

18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) At the General Extraordinary Shareholders meeting held on April 24, 2013 the following 
resolutions were approved: 

•	 The	cancellation	of	17,953,300	repurchased	shares	reducing	the	outstanding	repre-
sentative capital stock shares from 200,000,000 to 182,047,700. 

•	 An	increase	of	capital	stock	by	issuing	30,000,000	shares,	resulting	in	212,047,700	out-
standing shares as of that date. The par value per share was approved for $46. The 
difference of such amount versus the theoretical share value for $7.004576702 was 
recognized as paid-in capital.

•	 After	the	cancellation	of	shares	and	the	capital	stock	increase,	a	share	split	was	ap-
proved issuing 2.8295520300 per one share. As a result of this agreement, the capital 
stock is represented by 600,000,000 shares. 

b) As of December 31, the suscribed and paid capital stock, represented by Series “A” shares 
with no par value, are as follows: 

2013 2012

Number of shares  600,000,000  200,000,000

Nominal capital stock $ 1,485 $ 1,275

c) Retained earnings include the statutory legal reserve. The General Corporate Law re-
quires that at least 5% of net income of the year be transferred to the legal reserve until 
the reserve equals 20% of capital stock at par value (historical pesos). The legal reserve 
may be capitalized but may not be distributed unless the entity is dissolved. The legal 
reserve must be replenished if it is reduced for any reason. As of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, the legal reserve, in historical pesos, amounted to $150 and $134, respectively.
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d) As of December 31, 2013, the market value of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Series “A” shares was 
$19.96 (pesos).

e) Non-controlling interest consists of the following:

2013 2012
Capital stock $ 60 $ 60
Retained earnings 169 121
Net income 5 48
Other comprehensive income items 1 (12)
Other accumulated comprehensive income items 22 34

$ 257 $ 251

f ) Pursuant to a resolution of the General Ordinary Shareholders’ meeting held on April 24, 
2013, the shareholders approved the following: 1) Dividend distribution of $152 from 
the Net Tax Income Account (“CUFIN”); 2) an amount of $1,000 as the maximum amount 
for the repurchase of shares; and 3) to increase the legal reserve by $16.

g) Pursuant to a resolution of the General Ordinary Shareholders’ meeting held on Decem-
ber 9, 2013, the shareholders approved a dividend distribution of $150 from the CUFIN.

h) Pursuant to a resolution of the General Ordinary Shareholders’ meeting held on April 25, 
2012, the shareholders approved the following: 1) Dividend distribution of $75 from the 
CUFIN; 2) an amount of $1,000 as the maximum amount for the repurchase of shares; 
and 3) to increase the legal reserve by $24. 

i) During 2013 and 2012, CYDSA’s shares amounting to 7,409,104 (at a cost of $119) and 
3,750,000 (at a cost of $15), respectively, were acquired in the market. At the end of 2013 
and 2012 CYDSA has 10,238,656 and 18,952,300 of its own shares at a cost of $129 and 
$371, respectively.

j) The shareholders’ equity, except restated paid-in capital and retained tax earnings, will be 
subject to income tax payable by the Company at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any 
tax paid on such distribution, may be credited against annual and estimated income taxes 
of the year in which the tax on dividends is paid and during the following two fiscal years.

k) The balances of the shareholders’ equity tax accounts as of December 31, are as follows:

2013 2012
Contributed capital account $ 2,829 $ 3,109
Net tax income account 2,297 2,059
Total $ 5,126 $ 5,168

l) In 2013 and 2012, other comprehensive income items are represented by the effect of 
translation of foreign operations and remeasurement of the defined benefit plan.



m) Movements in other comprehensive income for 2013 and 2012, are presented below:

 

Translation 
effect of 
foreign 

operations

Remeasure- 
ment of 
defined 

benefit plan

Non-
controlling 

interest Total
Balances as of January 1, 

2012  $ 274 $ (14) $ 34 $ 294
Translation effect of 

foreign operations  (169)  (12) (181)
Remeasurement of 

defined benefit plan  (16) (16)
Balances as of December 

31, 2012  105  (30)  22  97
Translation effect of 

foreign operations 32 1 33
Remeasurement of 

defined benefit plan (3) (3) 
Balances as of December 

31, 2013 $ 137 $ (33) $  23 $ 127 

19. INCOME TAXES

a) The Company is subject to ISR and through December 31, 2013 IETU, due to the elimina-
tion of this tax starting in 2014. 

 ISR - The rate was 30% in 2013 and 2012 and as a result of the new 2014 ISR law (2014 Tax 
Law), the rate will continue at 30% in 2014 and thereafter. The Company incurred ISR on 
a consolidated basis up to 2013 with its Mexican subsidiaries. As a result of the 2014 tax 
reform, the tax consolidation regime was eliminated, and the Company and its subsidiar-
ies have the obligation to pay the deferred income tax determined as of that date during 
the subsequent 10 years beginning in 2014, as illustrated below.

 Pursuant to Transitory Article 9, section XV, subsection d) of the 2014 Law, given that as 
of December 31, 2013, the Entity was considered to be a holding company and was sub-
ject to the payment scheme contained in Article 4, Section VI of the transitory provisions 
of the ISR law published in the Federal Official Gazette on December 7, 2009, or article 
70-A of the ISR law of 2013, which was repealed, it must continue to pay the tax that it 
deferred under the tax consolidation scheme in 2007 and previous years based on the 
aforementioned provisions, until such payment is concluded.

 IETU - Revenues, as well as deductions and certain tax credits, are determined based on 
cash flows of each fiscal year. Beginning in 2010, the IETU rate is 17.5%. The Asset Tax 
(IMPAC) Law was repealed upon enactment of the IETU Law; however, under certain 
circumstances, Asset Tax Law paid in the ten years prior to the year in which ISR is paid 
for the first time, may be recovered, according to the terms of the law. In addition, as op-
posed to ISR, CYDSA and its subsidiaries will incur IETU on an individual basis.
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 Up to 2013, the current income tax was the greater of ISR and IETU.

 Through 2012, based on its financial projections, the Company determined that it will 
basically pay ISR. Therefore, it only recognizes deferred ISR. As of 2013, only deferred ISR 
is calculated due to the elimination of IETU.

 The ISR liability relating to tax consolidation benefits as of December 31, 2013 should be 
paid during the following years:

Year Amount
2014 $ 183
2015 182
2016 179
2017 189
2018 148
2019 177
2020 130
2021 91
2022 50
2023 35

$ 1,364

b) The provisions for ISR consist of the following:

2013 2012
Current $ (146) $ (35)
Deferred (203) (303)

$ (349) $ (338)

c) The reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed as a percentage of 
income before income taxes follows:

2013  2012
Effective income tax rate 40.8% 35.4%

More (less) plus effects of permanent 
differences, mainly non-cumulative income, 
non-deductible expenses and effects of 
inflation 4.4% (5.4)%

Effect of net tax losses in the tax liability for 
deferred income tax (15.2)%

Statutory rate 30.0% 30.0%



d) Amounts and concepts of other comprehensive items and deferred taxes effects are as 
follows:

2013
Amount 
before 

income taxes
Income 

taxes

Amount 
after 

income taxes
Translation effect of foreign 

operations $ 47 $ (14) $ 33
Remeasurement of the defined 

benefit liability (4)  1 (3)
$ 43 $ (13) $ 30

2012

Amount 
before 

income taxes Income taxes

Amount 
after

 income taxes
Translation effects of foreign 

operations $ (259) $ 78 $ (181)
Remeasurement of the defined 

benefit liability (22) 6 (16)
$ (281) $ 84 $ (197)

e) The main items comprising the deferred ISR asset as of December 31, are as follows:

2013 2012
Deferred ISR (liabilities) assets:

Property, plant and equipment $ (214) $ (530)
Tax loss carryforwards 260 374
Employee termination and retirement benefits 145 144
Allowance for doubtful accounts 4 4
Other 22 15

Sub-Total 217 7
Creditable ISR, (see g below) 190
Long-term ISR deferred asset $ 217 $ 197
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f ) The benefits from restated tax loss carryforwards may be recovered subject to certain 
conditions. The years of maturity and restated amounts as of December 31, 2013 are:

Year of origin Amount Year of expiration
2004 $  286  2014
2005 102  2015
2006 174  2016
2007 12  2017
2008 6  2018
2009 52  2019
2010 1  2020
2011 97  2021
2012 70  2022
2013 68  2023

$ 868

g) The Company filed before the Tax Administration Service (SAT) a confirmation request 
for criterion in order to be able to reduce from the consolidated income tax, the ISR pre-
viously paid, corresponding to 16.46% equity interest that third parties had in certain 
CYDSA´s subsidiaries which from September 2007 belongs to the Company, according 
to article 75 of the ISR law. The SAT concluded that the Company may apply the afore-
mentioned tax against the consolidated ISR for the year in which a consolidated taxable 
income be determined. According to the before mentioned, the Company applied $142 
to the taxable income of the year ended December 31, 2013.

20. FOREIGN CURRENCY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

a) The Company’s assets and liabilities include monetary items that will be collected or 
paid in foreign currencies. These items, valued in millions of US dollars, are as follows:

2013 2012
Monetary assets 117 221
Non-bank monetary liabilities 20 22
Bank loans 153 144

b) The Company had the following foreign currency transactions valued in millions of US 
dollars:

2013 2012
Export sales and other revenues 29.3 46.3
Import purchases (74.3) (91.7)

(45.0) (45.4)
Interest income 1.3 1.2
Interest expenses (4.8) (5.7)

(3.5) (4.5)
Balance of payments (48.5) (49.9)

c) The year-end exchange rates per US dollar were $13.0843 in 2013 and $12.9658 in 2012. 
The exchange rate as of February 26, 2014, the issuance date of the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, was $13.2992 per US dollar.



21. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Employee benefits granted to the Company’s executives were as follows:

2013 2012
Direct benefits $  141 $ 134 

22. QUIMOBASICOS, S.A. DE C.V. DESTRUCTION OF HFC-23 PROJECT

From 2006, several investments in plant and equipment enabled Quimobasicos to partici-
pate in the Protocol of Kyoto (the “Protocol”). The Protocol uses a series of instruments that 
allows developed countries to accomplish their goals of reducing gas emissions with flex-
ibility and reduced costs. Those organizations that participate in the Protocol and reduce or 
capture emissions of gases that damage the environment (GEI) will generate, under certain 
circumstances, Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), saleable to developed coun-
tries to credit their compliance with their obligations. The CERs can be negotiated directly in 
the market, given their ownership rights and protection under the regulation of the Frame-
work Convention on Climate Change and the Kyoto Protocol.

The sales of CERs for 2012 amounted to $220, which were recorded as net sales in the Con-
solidated Statements of Income. No sales of this product were made in 2013.

23. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2013 2012
Disaster recovery by insurance $ $  8 
Other income 1 9

$ 1 $ 17

24. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information provided to the Company’s Management for operating decision making pur-
poses for assigning resources and evaluating yields from each segment is focused specifi-
cally to the products detailed in b). 

a) According to IFRS 8, Operative segments, the Company’s two business segments are as 
follows:

• Chemical Products and Specialties: Salt, chlorine, caustic soda and refrigerant gases.

•	 Yarns:	Acrylic yarns. 
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Information by reportable segments:

2013

Chemical 
Products and 

Specialties Yarns

Corporate 
and 

Eliminations Consolidated
Consolidated Statement of Income:

Net sales by segment $ 4,973 $ 210 $ - $ 5,183
Depreciation and amortization 191 8 9 208
Interest expense, net (9) 19 10
Net consolidated income 543 14 (50) 507

Consolidated Statement 
 of Financial Position:

Total assets 10,663 498 1,297 12,458
Investments in productive assets (1,903) (316) (2,219)
Current liabilities 1,650 23 (297) 1,376
Non-current liabilities 4,683 309 (1,345) 3,647
Total liabilities 6,333 332 (1,642) 5,023

2012

Chemical 
Products and 

Specialties Yarns
Corporate and 
Eliminations Consolidated

Consolidated Statement of Income:
Net sales by segment $ 5,228 $ 270 $ - $ 5,498
Depreciation and amortization 182 9  3 194
Net financial income (113) 2 68 (43)
Net consolidated income 601 62  (46) 617

Consolidated Statement of Finan-
cial Position:
Total assets 8,155 500 2,121 10,776
Investments in productive assets (450) (1) (638) (1,089)
Current liabilities 944 15  162 1,121
Non-current liabilities 2,551 51  1,073  3,675
Total liabilities 3,495 66  1,235 4,796

Basis for book recognition to determine assets, liabilities and income (loss) assigned to each 
operating segment are the same as those described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.



b) Information of principal products:

2013 2012
Net sales

Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine – Caustic soda $ 2,541 $ 2,557
 Salt 1,438 1,348
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 994 1,323

Yarns
 Acrylic yarns 210 270

Consolidated total $ 5,183 $ 5,498

2013 2012
Depreciation and amortization

Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine – Caustic soda $ 116 $ 121
 Salt 44 36
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 31 25

Yarns
 Acrylic yarns 8 9

Corporate and eliminations 9 3
Consolidated total $ 208 $ 194

2013 2012
Net consolidated income

Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine – Caustic soda $ 389 $ 325
 Salt 144 177
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 10 99

Yarns
 Acrylic yarns 14 62

Corporate and eliminations (50) (46)
Consolidated total $ 507 $ 617

Total assets 2013 2012
Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine – Caustic soda $ 6,326 $ 5,348
 Salt 3,638 2,011
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 699 796

Yarns
 Acrylic yarns 498 500

Corporate and eliminations 1,297 2,121
Consolidated total $ 12,458 $ 10,776
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Investments in productive assets 2013 2012
Chemical products and specialties
   Chlorine – Caustic soda $ (701) $ (135)
    Salt (1,189) (268)
   Refrigerant gases and CERs (13) (47)

Yarns
 Acrylic yarns (1)

Corporate and eliminations (316) (638)
Consolidated total $ (2,219) $ (1,089)

c) Segment general information by geographical area.

2013 2012
Revenues

Mexico $ 4,808 $ 4,888
United States and Canada 152 131
Central and South America 204 222
Asia 2 15
Europe 17 242

Consolidated total $ 5,183 $ 5,498

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ISSUANCE AUTHORIZATION

On February 26, 2014, the issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements was authorized 
by C.P. Jose de Jesus Montemayor Castillo, Chief Financial Officer of the Company; conse-
quently, they do not reflect events occurred after this date. Based on provisions set forth by 
the General Corporate Law, these Consolidated Financial Statements are subject to the ap-
proval or modifications of the Company’s General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, further 
to provision in the General Mercantile Law.
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-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (1998) 
 Coatzacoalcos
-  Sales del Istmo (1999)
-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (2002) 
 Monterrey, Tlaxcala

-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (1998) 
 Coatzacoalcos

Avenida Ricardo Margain Zozaya #565 B
Col. Parque Corporativo Santa Engracia
Garza Garcia, Nuevo Leon
Mexico 66267

www.cydsa.com
e-mail: informeanual@cydsa.com
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